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% Russell Bedford

taking you further

Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders and Board of directors OF JSC Islamic Bank Zaman Bank

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying annual financial statements of Subsidiary Joint Stock Company Islamic
Bank Zaman Bank, (the "Bank"), which comprise the statement of financial position of the Bank as at
December 31, 2023, the statement of comprehensive income of the Bank for 2023, the statement of
changes in equity of the Bank for 2023, the statement of cash flows of the Bank for 2023, and the notes to
the annual financial statements of the Bank for 2023, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Bank as of December 31, 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The basis for the expression of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further disclosed In the Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are Independent of the Bank In accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”) and the ethlcal requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the
Republic of Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

We draw attention to Note 17 to the financial statements, which describes a significant concentration of
current accounts of the Bank's customers.

As discussed in Note 5, at the date of issuance of these financial statements, the Islamic Finance Principles
Board has not yet provided its report on the Bank's compliance for 2023 with the requirements of the Law
of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated August 31, 1995 “On Banks and Banking Activities in the Republic of
Kazakhstan” in terms of Shariah compliance (the “Law”).

We also draw attention to Note 5 to the financial statements, which states the need for the Bank to rely on
its own assessment of the probabilities and scenarios of future events without significant supporting
evidence of past events when calculating the allowance for expected credit losses.

We do not express a modified opinion based on the above matters.

Other Information

The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2022 were audited by another
auditor who expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements on July 3, 2023.

The responsibility of management and those charged with governance for the annual financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in

accordance with [FRS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.



In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operalions, or has no praclical allernalive bul lo liquidale or cease operalions. Those charged with
governance are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the Bank's financial statements.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objeclives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance wilh 1ISAs will always delecl a imaletial misslalernenl when it exisls. Misslaleimenls can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. In addition, we do the following:

= dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud or error;
design and perform audit procedures in response to these risks; obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
from fraud is greater than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement from an error because fraud
may include collusion, forgery, omission, misrepresentation, or circumvention of internal controls;

= obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control system;

= evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of management
estimates and related disclosures,

= conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inappropriate, modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to be able to continue as a going concern;

= evaluate the presentation of the financial statements as a whole, structure and content, including
disclosures, and whether the financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that ensures their fair presentation. h\
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Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Financial statements for 2023
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

on December 31, 2023

(In thousands of Kagakhstani tenge)

December 31, December 31, December

2023 2022 31, 2021
Note (Adjusted)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 6.634.445 16.915.962 6.309.846
Receivables on Islamic financing 7 15.070.937 14.642.517 14.724.953
Loans to customers 8 = = 11.779
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools 9 484.984 238.894 818.108
Property, plant and equipment 10 67.487 74.229 88.703
Right-of-use assets 11 238.420 285.773 237.447
Intangible assets 12 209.084 258.966 339.770
Inventory 13 191.252 191.229 190.565
Current corporate income tax assets 57.725 65.375 42.363
Deferred corporate income tax assets 14 12.229 08.808 =
Other assets 15 466.819 307.710 887.324
Total assets 23.433.382 33.079.463 23.650.858
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit institutions 16 691.764 724,993 780.866
Amounts due to customers 177 8.727.296 18.464.756 8.592.757
Liabilities to depositors of Wakala and Mudaraba pools 19 181.292 328.054 73.366
Provisions for contingent liabilities 19 970.925 647.101 629,588
Lease liabilities 11 253.642 296.239 261.684
Deferred corporate income tax liabilities 14 — - 10.063
Other liabilities 15 182,298 197.477 284.694
Total liabilities 11.007.217 20.658.620 10.633.018
Equity
Authorized capital 18 10.050.000 10.050.000 10.050.000
Additional paid-in capital 122.037 122.037 122.037
Retained earnings 2.254.128 2.248.806 2.845.803
Total equity 12.426.165 12.420.843 13.017.840
Total liabilities and equity 23.433.382 33.079.463 23.650.858

Signed and authorized for issue on behalf of the Management Board of the Bank:

Chairman of the Management Board

Asayeva Gulfayruz Yerlanovna

Shatanova Gaukhar Konyrbayevna Chief Accountant

May 29t 2024

The accompanying notes 1-29 are the integral part of these financial statements.



Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Financial statements for 2023

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended December 31, 2023
(In thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)

2023 2022
Note (Adjusted)
Income from Islamic financing activities
Revenue from Commodity Murabaha contracte 20 1.603.089 1.386.932
Revenues from '['awartuq contracts 158.951 75651
1.762.040  1.462.583
Other financial expenses
Lease labilities 11 (41.289) (29.113)
(41.289) (29.113)
Net financial income 1.720.751 1.433.470
Expenses on credit losses 21 (213.637) (1.123.613)
Net financial (expenses)/income after expenses on credit
losses 1.507.114 309.857
Nel comtmission incotne 22 497.851 635.065
Net income from foreign cutrency transactions:
- trading operations 285.226 28.531
- tevaluation of foreign curtency items (41.347) 199.338
Other income 41.109 45.259
Non-financial income 782.839 906.193
Personnel expenses 23 (450.384) (448.161)
Other operating expenses 23 (549.143) (581.464)
Loss on initial recognition of receivables on Islamic financing 7 (1.141.275) (593.640)
Other impairment charges 21 - (298.653)
Non-financial expenses (2.140.802) (1.921.918)
(Loss)/profit before corporate income tax expense 149.151 (705.868)
Cotpotale incotne lax savings/ (expense) 14 (143.829) 108.871
(Loss)/profit for the year 5.322 (596.997)
Other comprehensive income - -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year 5.322 (596.997)

The acconmparying notes 1-29 are the integral part of these financial statenents.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2023

Financial statements for 2023

(In thousands of Kazakhstani tenge)

Authorized Additional Retained
capital _patd-m caputal earuIngs Lotal equuty
On December 31, 2021 10.050.000 122.037 2.845.803 13017 840
Total comprehensive loss for the year (adjusted) - = (W96 997) (596.99/)
On December 31, 2022 10.050.000 122.037 2.248.806 12.420.843
Total comprehensive income for the year = = 5.322 5.322
On December 31, 2023 10.050.000 122.037 2.254.128 12.426.165

The accompanying notes 1-29 are the integral part of these financial statements.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Financial statements for 2023

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2023
(In thousands of Kagakhstani tenge)

Note 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Income detived from [slamic financing activitics 2 433 433 L 191778
Commisstons recetved 353.790 637504
Commissions paid (65.983) (86.473)
Net realized income on derivative financtal instruments = =
Realized income, net of expenses on foreign exchange operations 285.226 28.531
Other income received 5.250 9.100
Personnel expenses paid (450.384) (444.826)
Other operating expenses paid (427.919) (328.288)
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in

operating assets and liabilities 2.333.413 1.007.276
Net (increase)/ decrease in operating assets
Receivables on Islamic financing (2.441.262) (780.481)
Loans to customers - 6.500
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools (246.090) 133379
Inventories (23) =
Right of use assets 47.353 —
Other assets (149.065) 234.954
INet (decrease)/ ncrease i operating labiliies
Amounts due to credit institutions (33.229) (47.081)
Amounts due to customets (9.737.460) 9.929.854
Liabalites to depositors of Wakala and Mudataba pools (146.762) 253.934
Lease liabilities 73.223 -
Other liabilitics (14.958) (34.574)
Provisions for liabilities and contingencies 323.824 -
Net cash flows from operating activities before corporate

income tax (9.991.036) 10.703.761
Corporate income tax paid (49.600) (27.049)
Net cash inflow from operating activities (10.040.636) 10.676.712
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (36.312) (18.043)
Acquisition of intangible assets 12 (32.584) (1.633)
Net cash used in investing activities (68.896) (20.276)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities 11 (157.109) (165.693)
Net cash used in financing activities (157.109) (165.693)
Effect of expected credit losses on cash and cash equivalents 6 (13.463) (10.7806)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1.413) 126.159
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10.281.517) 10.600.116
Cash and cash equivalents on January 1, 2023 i 16.915.962 6.309.846
Cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 2023 6 6.634.445 16.915.962

The accompanying notes 1-29 are the infegral part of these financial statements.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Notes to the financial statements for 2023

(In thousands of Kazakhstani tenge, uniess otherwise stated)

1.  Description of activities

Islatnic Bank Zanan-Bank Joint Stock Cotnpany (heteinaller — the Bank) has operated in the Republic of Kazakhstan since
1991 under the laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan. In 2017, the Bank was transformed into an Islamic bank, renamed and
officially registered as Islamic Bank Zaman Bank Joint Stock Company.

I'he Bauk opetates under general banking license No. 1.3.51 issued by the Natonal Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the
NBRK) on August 17, 2017, which replaces the previous licenses. The activities of the Bank are regulated by the Financial
Matket Supervision Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan (the ['MSA).

The Bauk is cugaged in Tslanic bauking actvitics and conducts its opetations duouglh its head office in Astana and bancies
in Almaty and Ekibastuz. The Bank accepts deposits from the public, provides financial transactions based on the principles
of Shariah rules and regulations, transfers funds within and outside Kazakhstan, exchanges currencies and provides other
banking services to legal entities and individuals.

The registered address of the Bank’s head office is Rakhimzhan Koshkarbayev str., building 1a, b.3, office 301, Almaty district,
Astana, Republic of Kazakhstan.

The following legal entities and individuals were sharcholders of the Bank as on December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Shareholder (%) (%)
AT, Abguzhinov 70,0 70,0
Sh.D. Svarov 9,6 9,6
5.Y. Beisembayeva 7,3 73
Islamic Corporation for Private Sector Development 5,0 5,0
T.S. Abguzhinov 4,0 4,0
Orther shareholders individually owning less than 3% 4,1 4,1
Total 100,0 100,0

The members of the Board of Directors and members of the Management Board controlled 491,000 ordinary shares ot the
Bank or 4.91% on December 31, 2022 and 2021.

2.  Basis of preparation of financial statements

General information
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financizal statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting policies
below. These financial statements are presented in thousands of Kazakhstani tenge, except per share amounts and unless
otherwise indicated.

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic on March 11, 2020. In recent months, the
COVID-19 pandemic has shown significant signs of abating as travel bans have generally been lifted, lockdowns lifted, and
quarantine measures relaxed. Many governments have also lifted or announced reductions in measures to provide financial
and non-financial assistance to affected organizations. Nevertheless, COVID-19 may still affect companies and economies,
and businesses may still face reduced revenues, disrupted supply chains, and job losses.

Geopolitical situation

As a result of the conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine, many countries have imposed and will continue to
impose new sanctions against certain Russian entities and Russian citizens. Sanctions have also been imposed on the Republic
of Belarus.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Notes to the financial statements for 2023

(Ui thowsands of Kazakhitani tenge. unlece atherwive ctated)
2.  Basis of preparation of financial statements (continuation)

Geopolitical situation (continuation)

Volatility in stock and currency matkets, restrictions on imports and exports, availability of local resources, materials and
services will directly affect compunies that are actve or have significant tdes with the Russtun Fedetaton, the Republic of
Belarus or Ukraine. However, the consequences of the current situaion may direcdy or indirectly affect not only companies
directly related to the countries mvolved in the conflict.

In order to manage country risk, the Bank contrals transactions with counterparties within limits set by the Bank’s collegal
body, which are reviewed regularly.

The concentration of claims on Russian counterparties represented by cash and cash equivalents amounted to 48,895 thousand
tenge on December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022: 758,135 thousand tenge). In 2022, certain Russian counterparties were
included in the US sanctions lists for which the claims on Russian counterparties represented by cash and cash equivalents
amounted to 21,479 thousand tenge on December 31, 2022 (December 31, 2022: 16,206 thousand tenge).

3.  Definition of significant terms

Shariah

Shariah is a compilation of Islamic law and is essentally derived from the Holy Quran and the Sunnah of the Prophet (peace
be upon him). The Bank, being an Islamic financial institution, incotporates Shariah principles and norms into its operations
as interpreted by the Islamic Finance Principles Board.

Comwmodily Murabaha and Tawarrug

Mutabaha is a financing method whereby a counterparty Bank/Bank purchases a commodity from a broker or supplier and
takes actual or constructive possession of that commodity and then sells it to the customer/Bank on a deferred payment basis
at a pretiun, Under the Cotrunodity Mutabalia/Tawattuyg conttacts, the custotnet /Bauk then sells the satnc asset to a third
party on immediate delivery and payment terms, and the customer/Bank ultimately receives cash from the proceeds of the
sccond sale. Basically the underlying assct is a highly liquid commodity such as platinum or palladium. Under Shariah
principles, gold and silver are considered cash and cannot be used for this purpose.

Ijara

A lease of a specified asset, with transfer of ownership at the end of the lease term (also known as Ijara Muntahia Bitamleck)
is an arrangement whereby the Bank acquires an asset in accordance with the customer’s intention as set out in the statement
of intention and then leases it, acting as lessor, to the customer acting as lessee for a specified rent for a specified period.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Notes to the financial statements for 2023

(Tn thousands of Kazakhitant fenge, unlee othernive stated)
3.  Definition of significant terms (continuation)

Ijara (continuation)

The lenpth of the lease term and the basis for the lease are set out and agreed in the lease agreement The Bank holda title to
the asset throughout the lease term. 'The agreement can be terminated by transferring ownership of the asset to the lessee
upon fulfillment of the lessee’s obligation during or at the end of the lease term.

Mudaraba

Mudataba is 4 conttactual agreeimnent wherely two ot mote patties cotunit hemselves 1o an cconotnic activity. Mudaraba is
a profit sharing arrangement between the party providing the capital and the party providing the entreprencurial ability. It can
be entered into between investment account holders, as the source of funds, and the Bank as the Mudarib. The Bank
announces its willingness to accept investment funds, with the condition that profits are shared based on the agreement of
the two parties and losses are botne by the funding party, unless the losses are due to malpractice, negligence or breach of
agreed terms by the Bank, in which case such losses are borne by the Bank.

Pool of depositors

Pools (funds) are a form of pooling of deposits for co-investment purposes by currency, whereby profits of participants are
pooled and distributed according to prior agreements. The Bank’s internal policy provides for a depositor pool by currency
for Mudaraba and Vakala depositors (USD and tenge pools), a Sukuk pool and a shareholder pool depending on funding
sources, as well as co-funding of several pools.

In view of the possible mismatch between the assets and investment deposits of depositors due to eatly lerminalion or
redemption of the respective deposits, such deficit arising in a pool may be financed from other pools. Funding between pools
takes the Shariah fortm of pool funding and is governed by pool allocation and funding rules.

Wakala

A contract whereby an investor provides a certain amount of money to an agent who invests it according to specific conditions
in exchange for a certain remuneration (lump sum ot profit on the amount invested). The agent may be given an increase over
and above the pre-agreed expected rate of return, as a remuneration for services. The agent is obliged to return the invested
amount in case of negligence or breach of the Wakala terms and conditions.

Qard Hassan

QQard Hassan short-term receivables are non-profitable financial receivables in which a customer borrows funds for a specified
petiod of time with the understanding that the same amount must be repaid at the end of the agreed upon term.

Zakat

It is a right that matures when a certain level of wealth is reached and is payable to certain categories of beneficiaries. It is an
absolute obligation when these conditions are met.

4,  Significant accounting policies

Changes in accounting policies

The Bank has early adopted certain amendments to standards that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2023 (unless otherwise stated). The Bank has not early adopted standards, interpretations or amendments that have
been issued but atre not yet effective.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Notes to the financial statements for 2023

(T thousands of Kazakhstani tenge, uniess otherwive stated)

4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Changes in accounting policies (continuation)

e The amendments to TAS 1 Preseatation of Tinancial Statements and Practice Statement 2 require an entity to dieclose its
elpniflcunt uecountug policles tuthier than ite eignificant accountng policies. The amendments further explain how an
entity can identify a significant accounting policy. In support of the amendment, the Board also developed guidance and
examples to explan and demonstrate the application of the ‘four-step process for determining materiality’ described in
Practice (suidance .

* Amendments to [AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Frrors replaces the definition of a
change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates. According to the new definition, accounting
estimates are ‘monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty’. Entities develop
accounting estitnates when accounting policies require items in the financial statements to be measured in a manner that
involves estimation uncertainty. The amendments clarify that a change in an accounting estimate resulting from new
information ot new developments is not a correction of an error.

* Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) clarifies that the
initial recognition exemption does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal amounts of deductible and taxable
temporary differences on inital recognition.

« IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts requires insurance liabilities to be measured at the present value of settlement and provides
a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts. These requirements are intended to
aclueve the objecuve of consistent, prnciple-based accounting for msurance contracts.

The adoption of the above amendments did not have a significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements.

Fair value measurement

The Bank measures financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVIPL) and fair value tunougl other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and non-financial assets such as investment property at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be teceived to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurement assumes that a transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place:

® In the market that is principal to the asset or liability; or

o In the absence of a principal market, in the market that is most advantageous to the asset or liability.

The Bank must have access to the principal or most advantageous market. The fair value of an asset or lability is estimated
using assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability assuming that market participants act
in their best economic interest. The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s

ability to generate economic benefits either by making the best and most efficient use of the asset or by selling it to another
market participant that would make the best and most efficient use of the asset.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that ate appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measute fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the fair
value hierarchy described below, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
° Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or inditectly observable.

e Level 3 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Notes to the financial statements for 2023

(In thousands of Kazakhstant tenge, unless othernise stated)
4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Fair value measurement (continuation)

Fot assets and liabilities that ate tecognized in e fnandcial statetnetts on a tecutting basis, the Bank determines whether
transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets and liabilities
Initial recognition

Date of recoguition

Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the trade date, which is the date that the
Bank commits to purchase the asset or liability. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets and
liabilities under contracts that require delivery of assets and liabilities within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Initial measurement

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the contractual terms of the instruments and the
business model used (o tanage the instrutnents. Financial instrutnents are ually incasured at fan value, indluding tansaction
costs, except when financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at FVTPL

Cutegories of micasurenient of finandal assets and Guabilities

The Bank classifies all of its financial assets, based on the business model used for assel manuagement and the contractual
terms of the assets, as valued at:

° Amortized cost;
® FVOCI;
° FVTPL.

The Bank classifies and measures derivative instruments and instruments held for trading under the FVTPL. The Bank may,
at its discretion, classify financial instruments as measured at FVIPL if such classification would eliminate or significantly
reduce inconsistent application of measurement or recognition principles.

Financial liabilities, other than commitments to provide financing and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized cost or
FVTPL if they are held for trading and Islamic derivatives, or at the discretion of the entity, are classified as measured at fair
value.

Amonnts due from credit institutions, receivables from Islamic financing and loans to customers measured at amortized cost

The Bank measures amounts due from credit institutions, I[slamic finance receivables and loans to customers at amortized
cost only if both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash
flows;
] The contractual terms of the financial asset require that cash flows representing solely payments of principal and profit

on principal outstanding (SPPI) be received on specified dates.

These terms and conditions are discussed in more detail below.
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Initial measurement (continuation)

Hagrmenr model asiesiment

The Bank defines its business model at the level that best reflects how grouped financial assets are managed to achieve a
particular business objective.

‘T'he Bank’s business model 15 assessed at a higher level of portfolio aggregation rather than at the level of mcvidual
instruments and 1s based on observable factors such as:

e The way in which the performance of the business model and the return on financial assets held within that business
model are measured and communicated to the organization’s key management personnel;

° The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the return on financial assets held within that business
model) and, in particular, how those risks are managed;

° The way in which the managers managing the business are remunerated (e.g., whether remuneration is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or on contractual cash flows generated);

e The expected frequency, volume and timing of sales are also important aspects in assessing the Bank’s business model.

The assessment of the business model is based on scenatios that are reasonably expected to occur, without taking into account
so-called ‘worst case’ or “stress’ scenatios. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a manner different from the
Bank’s expectations, the Bank does not change the clussification of the remaining financial arrets held within thie business
model, but subsequently takes such information into account when evaluating newly created or recently acquired financial

asscls.

Solely Payments of Crincipal and Interest test (YPPI feci)

As part of the second step of the classification process, the Bank assesses the contractual terms of a financial asset to determine
whether the asset’s contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and profits on the outstanding principal
balance (SPPI test).

For the purposes of this test, ‘principal’ is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the
life of the financial asset (e.g., if there are principal repayments or amortization of premium/discount).

The most significant elements of profit under a loan agreement are generally the consideration for the time value of money
and the consideration for credit risk. In order to perform the SPPI test, the Bank applies judgment and analyzes relevant
factors, such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated and the petiod for which the profit rate is set.

At the same time, contractual terms that have more than a negligible effect on the risk exposure or volatility of the contractual
cash flows that are unrelated to the underlying loan agreement do not give tise to contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and profits on the outstanding principal. In such cases, the financial asset should be measured at FVTPL.

Financial guarantees and liabilities for the provision of Islamic financing

The Bank issues financial guarantees and liabilities for Islamic financing.

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements at fair value, at the premium received. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Bank measures its liability under each guarantee at the higher of the amount initially recognized less
cumulative amortization recognized in profit or loss and the valuation provision for expected credit losses (ECL).

Liabilities for Islamic financing are contractual liabilities under which the Bank is obliged to provide financing to a customer
on predetermined terms and conditions during the term of the liability. As with financial guarantee contracts, such liabilities
are subject to the ECL valuation requirements.
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)
Initial measurement (continuation)

EPerformance puarantees

Performance guarantees are contracts that provide compensation if the other party fails to fulfill a contractual obligation.
Performance guarantees do not tranefer credit risk. I'he risk under a performance guarantee contract is the possibility that the
other party fatls to tulfill it contractual obligation Accordingly, performance guarantees are not financtal mnstruments and
therefore are not within the scope of IFRE 9.

Recedvables for Lslamic financing and loans to custonzers

Loans to customers and receivables from Islamic financing activities, which includes Mutabaha contract receivables, are non
detivative financial assets that are not traded in an active market with fixed payments. It is not held for immediate sale or sale
in the near term, but to collect contractual cash flows. Assets are carried at amortized cost using the effective profit rate
method. The income and expenses on such assets ate recognized in profit ot loss when such assets are disposed of or impaired
and through the amortization process. Receivables from Islamic financing activities consist of receivables from Murabaha
contracts. Murabaha receivables are cartied at amortized cost less provision for impairment.

Islamic financing activites are financed from two sources: 1) the Bank’s own funds, which are recognized on the balance
sheet; and 2) funds received under Wakala and Mudaraba agreements. Under the terms of the Wakala and Mudaraba contracts,
the Bank does not bear the risk and such funds are accounted for as off-balance sheet items. In the event of eatly termination
ot expiration of the Wakala and Mudaraba agreements, which could result in a possible mismatch of asset maturities, the
resulting deficit may be financed by the Bank out of its own funds and recognized as an asset in the statement of financial
position

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Banlt does not reclassify financial nssets after initinl recognition, unless the Banlk changes its business model for managing
financial assets. Financial liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify financial assets and liabilities in 2022.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, obligatory reserves, amounts due from the NBRK and due from other
banks that mature within ninety (90) days of the date of origination and are free from contractual encumbrances.
Borrowings

Issued financial instruments or their components are classified as liabilities, where the substance of the contractual
arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy
the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own
equity instruments. Such instruments include amounts due to credit institutions and amounts due to customers. Subsequent
to initial recognition, borrowings are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Income and expense are
recognized in profit ot loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization process.

Lease

7 The Bank as a lessee

The Bank applies a uniform approach to the recognition and measurement of all leases other than short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. 'The Bank recognizes lease liabilities for lease payments and right-of-use assets, which represent the right
to use the underlying assets.




Islamic Bank Zaman-Bank Joint Stock Company Notes to the financial statements for 2023

(I thousands of Kazakhstani tenge, unless otherwise stated)

4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)
Leases (continuation)
L L'he Bank as a lessee (continuation)

Right-of-use assets

The Bank recognizes right of use assets at the commencement date of the lease (ie the date on which the underlying asset
becotnes avallable (ot use). Rigli-ol-use assets ate measuted at cost less accwnulated deprectaton and  accwnulated
impairment losses, as adjusted for the revaluation of lease liabilities.

The initial cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the recognized lease liability, initial direct costs incurred and lease
payinents tnade on o1 before the cotmncuccment date less Jease incentives tecadved. I e Bank is not teasonably cettain thal
it will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the recognized right-of-use asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. Right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Bank recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of the lease payments to be
made over the lease term. Lease payments include fixed payments (including substantally fixed payments), net of any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index ot rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. Leasc payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option if it is reasonably certain that the Banl
will exercise the option and lease termination penalties if the lease term reflects the Bank’s potential exercise of a termination
option. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are recognized as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers such payments aceurs

The Bank uses the incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date to calculate the present value of the lease payments
1[ the profit tate unplicit 1y the lease cannot be teadily detetinmed. Altet the cotmnencernent date, the lease liability is i reased
to reflect the acerual of the profit rate and decreased to reflect the lease payments made. In addition, if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in the substance of the fixed lease payments ot a change in the valuation of an option to
purchase the underlying asset, the carrying amount of the lease liability is remeasured.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Bank applies the recognition exemption for short-term leases to short-term leases (i.e. leases with a lease term of 12
months or less at the commencement date and which do not contain a purchase option). The Bank also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office equipment considered to be of low value (Le. up to 2,400 thousand
tenge). Lease payments for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as rental expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

il Operating leases — the Bank as a lessor

Leases where the Bank does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset are classified
as operating leases.Lease income arising from leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
operating leases are added to the cattying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent lease payments are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are received.
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Lease (continuation)

Iiia Fivanice feases — the Bank as qa fessor

The Bank recognizes lease receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease from the commencement of the
lease term. Financial income 1s calculated on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the carrying amount of
the net tnvestment Lnittal direct costs are recognized as muttal lease payments recetvable

Offsetting financial assets

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The right of set-off shall not be contingent on a future event and shall
be legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances:

° in the ordinary coutse of business;
° in the event of default; and
° in the event of insolvency or bankruptcey of the organization or any of its counterparties.

These conditions ate generally not met for master netting agreements and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross
1 the statement of financial position.

Restructuring of finanecial instruments

The Bank secks, where possible, to renegotiate the terms of financial instruments, such as extending the contractual maturities
of payments and negotiating new financing terms, instead of taking possession of collateral.

‘I'he Bank derecognizes a financial asset, such as a financial instrument issued to a customer, when the terms of the contract
are renegotiated such that it becomes substantially new financing and the difference is recognized as a gain or loss on
derecognition before the impairment loss is recognized. Upon initial recognition, the financial instrument is treated as Stage
1 for ECL measurement purposes unless the financial instrument created is considered to be an acquired or created credit-
impaired (PCSCO) asset. In assessing whether a customer’s financing should be derecognized, the Bank considers, among
other factors, the following:

° change in the cutrency of financing;
° change in counterpatty;
° whether the modification results in the instrument no longer meeting the criteria of the SPPI test.

If the modification does not result in a significant change in cash flows, the modification does not result in derecognition.
Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate, the Bank recognizes a profit or loss on the
modification, which is presented within gains less losses atising from modification in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, before any impairment loss is recognized.

For modifications that do not result in derecognition, the Bank also reassesses whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk or whether it is necessary to classify the assets as credit-impaired. Once an asset is classified as credit-impaired as a result
of a modification, it will temain in Stage 3 for at least 2 12-month ttial petiod. Regular payments of more than insignificant
amounts of principal or profit throughout the trial period in accordance with the modified payment schedule are required to
transfer the restructured financing from Stage 3
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

Financial assets (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) are derecognized
from the statement of financial position when:

e the rights to teceive cash flows from the asset have expired:

o (he Dank has vansfletted the tights Lo teceive cash ows [rom the assel ot has asswned an obligation (o tansfer the
teceived cash flows in [ull without matetial delay to a thitd patty undet a ‘pass-ntough’ attangement, and

e  the Bank cither (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, ot (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of
the Bank’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Bank could be required to repay.

Write-off

Dinancial assets ate wiilten ofl either in part ot in full when the Bank no longer expects thetn o be tecovered. I the amount
to be written off is higher than the accumulated impairment provision, the difference is recognized first as an increase in the
proviston, which 1s then applied 1o the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are charged (o credit loss expense.
The write down relates to derecognition.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharped, cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or
loss.

Taxation

The current deferred corporate income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the regulations of the Republic of
Kazakhstan.

Deferred corporate income tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of temporary differences using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred corporate income tax is provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, except where the deferred corporate income
tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that at the time of the transaction affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred corporate income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred corporate income tax assets and
liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is
settled, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Kazakhstan also has various operating taxes that are assessed on the Bank’s activities. These taxes are included in the statement
of comprehensive income within other operating expenses.
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Property, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment are stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation
andl any accunulated wapattioent losses Sucle cost wicludes the cost of teplacing patt ol equuprnent when that cost s meured
if the recognition ctiteria are met.

The cattying amount of propetty, plant and equipment is assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in
citcumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

Depreciation of an asset begins when it becomes available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
following estimated useful lives of the assets:

Depreciation

rates

Computers and office equipment 20-50%
Vehicles 15-20%
Other 15-30%

The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of assets are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted as
appropriate.

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in other operating expenses in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, unless they qualify for capitalization.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets include software and licenses.

Intangible assets acquired separately are initally measured at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business
cotnbiation ts e fan value at the date of acquisiton. Subsequent to uutal tecoguition, titangible asscts ate cated al cost
less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets have finite or indefinite useful lives.
Intangible asscts with finitc lives arc amortized over uscful lives ranging from 1 to 7 ycars and asscssed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Amortization periods and amortization methods
for intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.

Estimated liabilities

Estimated liabilities are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of tresources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for pensions and other employee benefits

The Bank does not have any pension arrangements separate from the State pension system of the Republic of Kazakhstan,
which requites cutrent contributions by the employer calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments. This expense
is recognized in the accounting period to which the related salaries relate. In addition, the Bank does not provide significant
post-employment benefits to its employees.
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4.  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Authorized capital

athorzed captal

Ordinaty shiates ate tecognized in equily. Extetnal costs ditecdy atuibutable o tie issue of new shares, other than on a business
combination, are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over
the par value of shares issued is recognized as additional paid-in capital.

Dividends

Dividends ate recognized as a liability and deducted from equity at the teporting date only if they are declared before or on
the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting date or proposed or declared after
the reporting date but before the financial statements are authorized for issue.

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position but are disclosed unless the possibility of any
outflow in settlement is remote. Contingent assets ate not recognized in the statement of financial position but disclosed when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Income and expense recognition

Revenuce is recognized to tic extent that it is probable that thic cconomic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue can
be reliably measured. The following criteria must be met for revenue to be recognized in the financial statements:

Finance and sinilar income and expenses

The Bank calculates revenue for debt financial assets measured at amortized cost or FVOCI by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrving amount of financial assets, other than credit-impaired financial assets. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
ot a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation
takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) and includes any fees
or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but
not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its
estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective profit rate and
the change in carrying amount is recognized as revenue or expense.

For a financial asset that becomes credit-impaired, the Bank calculates revenue by applying the effective interest rate to the
net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the default on a financial asset is eliminated and it is no longer credit-impaired, the
Bank reverts to a gross value-based revenue calculation.

For ACCI financial assets, the Bank calculates revenue by applying the credit risk adjusted effective profit rate to the amortized
cost of the financial asset. The effective credit risk adjusted rate of return is the rate that, at initial recognition, discounts
estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) through to the amortized cost of the ACCI assets.

Income from all financial assets measured at FVIPL is recognized using the contractual rate of return within ‘Other revenue
at profit’ in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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4,  Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Income and expense recognition (continuation)

(.ommission income

The Bank earns commission income from various types of services it provides to its customets. Commission income can be
divided into the following two categories:

Coampission income received for rendering vervices during a certain period of time

Fees earned for providing services over a petiod of time are accrued over that period. Such items include commission income
and fees for issuing guarantees. Commitment fees for providing Islamic financing when it is probable that a financial
instrument will be drawn down and other fees associated with the issuance of a financial instrument are deferred (logethet
with any incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of the financial instrument) and recognized as an adjustment
to the effective yield on the loan.

Commission income from provision of transaction services

Fees received for negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction on behalf of a third party, such as when the
Bank’s performance obligation is to enter into an agteement to purchase shares or other securities or to buy or sell businesses,
are recognized upon completion of the transaction. Fees (or a portion of fees) associated with certain performance obligations
are recognized when the related performance criteria have been met. Where a contract provides for variable consideration,
commission income is recognized only to the extent that it is highly probable that the uncertainty inherent in the variable
cousidetation will not significanty teduce the cumulative atnount of tevenue tecognized.

Foreign currency translation

The financal statements are presented in tenge, which 1s the Bank’s functional and presentation currency. [ransactions in
foreign currencies are initially translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate set by the Kazakhstan Stock Fxchange
(KASE) and published by the NBRK effective at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
(oteign cuttencies ate anslated o the funclional cuttency at the exchange tate at e teporting date. Incotne and cxpenses
arising from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income under
‘Net income/(éxpenses) from foreign currencies - revaluation of foreign currency items’. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date when the
fair value was determined.

Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency and the KASE official exchange rate
on the date of the transaction are included in net gain on foreign exchange operations. The official exchange rate quoted by
ICASE was 454.56 tenge per 1 US dollar on December 31, 2023 and 462.65 tenge per 1 US dollar on December 31, 2022,

respectively.
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4.

Significant accounting policies (continuation)

Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective

New standards, amendments and interpretations that arc issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Bank’s
{inanctal statements are diselosed below  Uhe Bank plans to adopt these new standards, amendments and interpretations, tf
applicable, whewn they becoine effective.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to [IFRS 10 and [AS
28) address siluations in which there is a sale or contribution of assets between an mnvestor and 1ts associate or jomnt
venture. Specifically, the amendiments state that profits ot losses atising {roin the loss of control of a subsidiary that has
no business resulting from a transaction with an associate ot joint venture accounted for using the equity method are
recognized in the parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similatly, profits and losses atising from the remeasurement of the investment retained in any former subsidiaty
(that has become an associate or joint venture accounted for using the equity method) at fair value are recognized in the
former parent’s profit or loss only to the extent of unrelated investots’ interests in the new associate ot joint venture. The
effective date of the amendments has not yet been set by the IASB; however, eatly application of the amendments is
permitted.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to classify liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments aim to provide consistency in the application of the requirements by helping entities to determine whether
debt and other liabilities with an uncertain maturity date should be classified as current (due or potentially due within one
year) or non-cutrent in the statement of financial position. The amendments are applied retrospectively fot annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2024,

Non-current Liablittes with Covenants (Amendments to [AS 1) 'The amendments clarify that only covenants that an
eulity ls tequited to cotaply withe at ot belote the et of the tepotting petiod alfect the entity s tight o deler settletnent
of the hability for at least twelve months after the reporting date (and therefore should be considered when assessing
whether the lability 15 classufied as current o1 non cuwtent). Such covenunts allect the extstence of uughtat the end of the
reporting period even if compliance with the covenant i3 assessed only after the reporting date (e.g., a covenant based on
the entity’s financial position at the reporting date, compliance with which is assessed only after the reporting date). The
amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on ot after January 1, 2024.

Supplier Finance Arrangements (Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7). The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS
7, which states that an entity must disclose information about its supplier financing arrangements that enables users of
financial statements to evaluate the effect of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In addition, IFRS
7 was amended to include supplier financing arrangements as an example in the disclosure requirements about an entity’s
exposure to concentrations of liquidity risk. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2024.

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (Amendments to IFRS 16). The amendments to IFRS 16 add requirements for
subsequent measurement of sale and leaseback transactions that meet the requirements of IFRS 15 to be accounted for as
a sale. The amendments require a seller-lessee to define lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ such that the seller-
lessee does not recognize a gain or loss relating to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee after the commencement
date. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foteign Exchange Rates. These amendments apply to entities that
have transactions in foreign currencies that are not exchangeable into another currency at the date of the transaction. A
currency is considered to be exchangeable when it is possible to obtain another currency (with a normal technical delay)
and the transaction is effected through a market or exchange mechanism that creates legally enforceable rights and
obligations. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025.

Tlie Bauk inteuds o adopt dicse new standatds and atnendincnts whien ey becotne effective. These atnendinents ate not
expected to have a significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements.
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Prior period adjustments

The Bank identified an error in the approach to calculating scenario probabilities for the calculation of expected credit losses
on Receivables for Islamic Finanring on December 31, 2022 As a result, the following adjustments were made:

Before adjustments Adjusunent Aller adj ustnents
Receivables on Islamic financing 14.297.125 345.392 14.642.517
Otlier ussets 32.734.071 345.392 33.079.463
2022
Before adjustments Adjustment After adjustments
Expenses on credit losses (1.469.005) 345.392 (1.123.613)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (942.389) 345.392 (596.997)
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5.  Significant accounting judgments and estimates

Judgments

In the process of applying the Banl’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those
invelving estimations, which Luve thie most significant effect on the atmounts tecognized in the financial statementa:

Deternsining the lease term in renewal aption contracts

The Bank defines a lease term as a non-cancellable lease term together with pertods subject to an option to extend the lease
il 1t 1s teasonably certain that the option will be exetcised or periads subject to an option to terminate the lease if it is reasonably
cerlain that the option will not be exercised.

Under certain leases, the Bank has an option to renew the lease of assets for an additional period of three to five years. The
Bank applies judgment to determine whether it is reasonably certain that it will exercise this renewal option. In doing so, the
Bank considers all relevant factors that give rise to an economic incentive to exercise the renewal option. After the
commencement date, the Bank reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within
the Bank’s control that affects its ability to exercise (or not exercise) the renewal option (e.g., a change in business strategy).

Shariah compliance

In accordance with the requirements of the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan On Banks and Banking Activities in the
Republic of Kazakhstan dated August 31, 1995 (hereinafter — the Law), the Bank has established a Council on Principles of
Islamic Finance (CPLE), which s responsible for determining whether the Bank’s activities and operations comply with the
requirements of the above Law and Shariah. The SPIs report on the Bank’s Shatlah comnpliance ot 2023 is uot yet available
at the date of issuance of these financial statements. In preparing these financial statements, the Bank’s management assuines
et all of the Bank's acuvities and operatlons for 2024 cotnply with the tequitetnents of the Law and Shattah,
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5.  Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continuation)

Uncertainty of estimates

the process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has used its judgments and made estimates in determining
the amonnts recognized iy e fnancial stateinents, The tont slguificant areus of judginent and eslitnutes ate sutnatized
below:

Luxpected credit losses

'I'he estimation of impairment losses for all categories of financial assets requites the exercise of judgment, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and the value of collateral when determining the ECL and assessing
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. Such estimates are dependent on a number of factors, changes in which
could result in differing amounts of estimated provisions for impairment. The Bank’s ECL calculations are the result of
complex models involving a number of undetlying assumptions regarding the choice of input variables and their
interdependencies. The Bank relies heavily on its own assessment of probabilities and scenarios of future events without
significant corroborating evidence of past events, given the need to comply with Shariah law, which requires a number of
reliefs to be granted to the borrower in the event of unforeseen financial difficulties. The elements of the ECL calculation
models that are considered to be judgments and estimates include the following:

. The internal credit rating system used by the Bank to determine the probability of default (PD);

° The criteria used by the Bank to assess whether thete has been a significant increase in credit risk such that the estimated
provision for impairment losses on financial assets should be measured at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL and a
qualitative assessinerll,

] Grouping finaneial assets together where their TCLs are assessed o1 u group busis,

° Developing models for caleulating ECLs, including various formulas and choice of input data;

° Identifying relationships between macroeconomic indicators and economic data, e.g. GDP growth rate and client
financial health, and the impact on probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default
aGo)

Taxation

The Republic of Kazakhstan currently has a unified Tax Code which regulates major taxation issues. Applicable taxes include
value added tax, corporate income tax, social taxes and other taxes. Often, executive orders implementing regulations are
unclear or non-existent and few precedents have been established. Often, differing opinions regarding legal interpretation of
regulations exist both among and within government agencies, creating uncertainties and areas of conflict. Tax declarations,
together with other legal compliance ateas (as examples, customs and currency control matters) are subject to review and
investigation by a number of authorities, which are enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and interest charges. This
situation creates a greater degree of probability of tax risks in the Republic of Kazakhstan than, for example, in other countries
with more developed tax legislation.

The management believes that the Bank is in compliance with the tax legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, which governs
its operations. However, the risk remains that relevant authorities could take differing positions with regard to interpretive
issues.

Leases — estimation of the rate of additional borrowings

The Bank cannot readily determine the rate of return implicit in the lease agreement and therefore uses the incremental
borrowing rate to measure the lease liability The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of return at which the Bank could
botrow, for a sinilar term and with similar collateral, the funds necessaty to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset under similar economic conditions. Thus, the incremental borrowing rate reflects the interest that the Bank ‘would
have to pay’ and its determination requites the use of estitnates if observable rates are nol available or if observable rates need
to be adjusted to reflect the terms of the lease.

The Bank determines the incremental borrowing rate using observable inputs (such as market rates of return), if available, and
uses certain estimates specific to the entity.
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6.  Cash and cash equivalents

Casliand cashiequivalents on Decetuber 31 include the following items:

Cush
Cash in current accounts with the NBRK

Murabaha Tawarruq with NBRK with contractual maturity up to 90 days

Current accounts with other banks

Less valuation provisions for ECLs
Cash and cash equivalents

2023 2022

L 204 539 1 604 360
358.482 11.426.810
2.402.951 2.001 750
2.716.890 1916 996
6.682.862 16.950.916
(48.417) (34.954)
6.634.445 16.915.962

In accordance with Kazakhstan legislation, the Bank is required to maintain certain obligatory reserves, which are computed
as a percentage of certain liabilities of the Bank. Such reserves must be maintained on current accounts with the NBRK or in
cash in the amount of the average monthly balances of the aggregate of the total cash balances on current accounts with the
NBRK or cash on hand in national or foreign currencies for the period when the reserves are required to be maintained.
However, the Bank is not restricted in the use of these funds in its day-to-day operations.

The obligatory reserves amounted to 48,417 thousand tenge on December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022: 34,954 thousand
tenge).

The movements in the valuation provisions agninst cash equivalent ECLs for the year ended December 31, 2023 arc presented
below:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (L.o88) (20.301) (12.965) (34.954)
Assets that have been repaid = = =
Translets 1o Stage 3 1.688 20.501 (21.989) =
Net change 1n ECL (13.463) (13.463)
Provision for ECL on December 31, 2023 - = (48.417) (48.417)

T'he movements in the valuation provisions against cash equivalent LCLs for the year ended December 31, 2022 are presented
below:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (?4168) = - (24.168)
New assets created or assets acquired = (6.671) = (6.671)
Assets that have been repaid 22.868 — = 22.868
Transfers to Stage 3 64 - (64) -
Net change in ECL (452) (13.630) (12.901) (26.983)
Provision for ECL on December 31, 2022 (1.688) (20.301) (12.965) (34.954)
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7.  Receivables for Islamic financing

Recetvables for Islamic financing on December 31 include the following items:

2023 2022

(Adjusied)

Cotnnodity Murabaha — the corporate part 18.745.73% 18.210.769

QQard Hassan 11.701 20.389
Cotnodity Murabaha — the retail part 35.94 17.259

Total receivables fot Islamic flnancing 18.793.380 18.248.417

Less valuation provision {or ECLs (3.722.443) (3.605.900)

Receivables for Islamic financing 15.070.937 14.642.517

In 2023, the Bank recognized a loss on initial recognition of Islamic financing receivables issued at below market rates in the
amount of 322,871 thousand tenge (2022: 479,826 thousand tenge) and a loss on initial recognition of ACCI assets in the
amount of 818,404 thousand tenge (2022: 113,814 thousand tenge) in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The rate of return on the receivables for Islamic financing was 8%-21% p.a. on December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022:
8%-19% p.a.) and the reccivables mature between 2024 and 2030 (December 31, 2022: between 2023 and 2028).
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7.  Receivables for Islamic financing (continuation)

Valuation provision for ECL

The movements in the pross carrying amount and the related provision under the TCT for Commadity Mutaluba Cotporate
Part for the year ended Decanber 31, 2023 ate as [ollows:

Commeodity Murabaha - cotpotate part Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 ACCT Total
Gross catrying amount

on January 1, 2023 32.64'/ 11.278.139 6.053.038 846 945 18 210 769
New asscts created oL assels acquited 3.140.000 - - - 3.140.000
Assels that have been repaid (393.892) (L.087.554) (979.783) (60.333) (2.521.362)
Transfers in Stage 1 - - - - -
Transfers in Stage 2 (1.742.500) 1.742.500 - - -
Transfers in Stage 3 (722.265) (10.113.216) 10.835.481 - -

Changes in contractual cash flows due to a
modification that does not result in

detecognition (82.857) (11.522) 189.075 (83.528) 11.368
Amortization of discount 21.195 (66.247) (89.636) 39.648 (95.040)
On December 31, 2023 252.328 1.742.500 16.008.175 742.732 18.745.735

Commodity Murabaha - corporate part Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 ACCI Total

Provigion for I'CL. on January 1, 2023 (1.140) (833.714) (2.368.660) (399.275) (3.602.789)

New assets created ot assets acquired (159 437) - (159 437)

Asscls tiat have been tepuad 18.612 103.509 627.865 99.620 849.604

Transfers in Stage 1 2 ™=

Transfers in Stage 2 206.350 (206.350) - = =

Transfers in Stage 3 195.943 1.842.046 (2.037.989) - -

Impact on ECLs as a result of transfers

from one Stage to another and changes in (258.672) (1.194.258) 192.597 412.356  (847.977)

models and inputs used to estimate ECLs
Changes in contractual cash flows due to a

modification that does not result in 18.968 16.170 (110.794) 28.198 (47.458)
derecognition
Amortization of discount (21.195) 66.247 84.417 (39.648) 89.821

On December 31, 2023 (571) (206.350)  (3.612.566) 101.251 (3.718.236)
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7. Receivables for Islamic financing (continuation)

Valuation provision for ECL (continualion)

The movements in the gross carrying amount and the related provision under the ECL for Commodity Mutabulia - Cotporate
Part for the year ended December 31, 20272 are as follows:

Commodity Murabaha - cotporate part Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 ACCr Total
Gross cattying amount

on January 1, 2022 1.027.778 10.860.002 5.262.357 422 556 17.572.69%
New assets created or assets acquired 9.940.000 - — 1.120.000 11.060.000
Assets that have been repaid (1.733.554) (6.456.849) (1.372.071) (695.611) (10.258.085)
Transfers in Stage 1 614.388 (521.119) (93.269) o —
Transfers in Stage 2 (7.990.596) 11.488.883 (3.498.287) - —
Transfers in Stage 3 (1.825.369) (4.092.778) 5.918.147 = -

Changes in contractual cash flows due to a
modification that does not result in

derecognition - - (310.714) - (310.714)
Amortization of discount - - 146.875 - 146.875
On December 31, 2022 32.647 11.278.139 6.053.038 846.945 18.210.769
Commadsty Murababa - corporate part Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 ACCI Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (37.243) (1.325.852) (1481 854) (65.420) (2.910.375)
New assels created or assets acquired (504.715) - - - (504.715)
Assets that have been repmud R7.860 693.279 655.806 270.858 1.677.803
Transfers in Stage 1 (74.366) 58.323 16.043 - -
Transfers in Stage 2 573.153 (1.345.393) T12.240 —~ -
Transfers in Stage 3 62.561 467.906 (530.467) - -

Impact on ECLs as a result of transfers

from one Stage to another and changes in

models and inputs used to estimate ECLs

(Adjusted) (78.390) 618.023  (1.794.927) (604.707)  (1.860.001)
Changes in contractual cash flows due to a

modification that does not result in

derecognition — — 141.374 = 141.374
Amortization of discount - - (146.875) - (146.875)
On December 31, 2022 (1.140) (833.714) _ (2.368.660) (399.275)  (3.602.789)
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7.  Receivables for Islamic financing (continuation)

Valuation provision for ECL (continuation)

The following is an analysis of the changes in the gross cartying amount and related provision under the TCL [or Qued [Tassan
for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Qard Hassan Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount

on Januaty 1, 2023 20.389 = = 20.389
New assets created - - - -

Assets that have been repaid (8.688) - - (8.688)
On December 31, 2023 11.701 - - 11.701
Qard Hassan Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (46) - - (46)
New assets created - - — -

Assets that have been repaid 18 - - 18

Impact on ECL as a result of transfers from one

stage to another and changes in the inputs used

to estimate the ECL (21) - - (21)
On December 31, 2022 (49) - - (49)

The following is an analysis of the changes in the groas carrying amount and related provision under the FCT for Qard Hasaan
for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Qard Hassan Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount

on January 1, 2022 38.369 - - 38.369
New assets created 2.000 - - 2.000
Assets that have been repaid (19.980) = - (19.980)
On December 31, 2022 20.389 — - 20.389
Qard Hassan Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (152) - - (152)
New assets created (31) - - (31)
Assets that have been repaid 137 — — 137

On December 31, 2022 (46) - = (46)
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7. Receivables for Islamic financing (continuation)

Valuation provision for ECL (continuation)

The following is an analysis of the changes in tlic gross cattving anount and telated provision under the ECL for Commodity

Murabaha  retal part for the year ended December 31, 2023
Commodity Murabaha — retail part Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross cartylng amount ; " qop s
on January 1, 2023 9.344 5.257 2.658 L'/ 29
New asscts created 41.000 - 150 41.150
Assets that have been repaid (21.426) (1.039) - (22.465)
On December 31, 2023 28.918 4.218 2.808 35.944
Commodity Mutabaha - retail portion Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (62) (1.167) (1.836) (3.065)
New assets created (313) - - (313)
Assets that have been repaid 75 266 - 341
Impact on ECL as a result of transfers from one

stage to another and changes in the inputs used

to estimate the ECL - (835) (286) (1.121)
On December 31, 2023 (300) (1.736) (2.122) (4.158)

The following Is an analysis of the changes in the gross carrymg amount and related provision under the ECL for Commodity
Mutubalia  tetail pact for e year cuded Decetnber 31, 2022,

Commodity Murabaha — retail portion Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross cattying amount
on January 1, 2022 20.562 5.981 - 26.543
New assets created 2.500 - - 2.500
Assets that have been repaid (11.218) (566) - (11.784)
Transfers in Stage 2 (2.500) 2.500 - -
Transfers in Stage 3 - (2.658) 2.658 -
On December 31, 2022 9.344 5.257 2.658 17.259
Commodity Murabaha — retail portion Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (405) (1.720) - (2.125)
New assets created (49) - - (49)
Assets that have been repaid 343 77 - 420
Transfers in Stage 2 49 (49) — —
Transfers in Stage 3 — 719 (719) -
Impact on ECL as a result of transfers from one

stage to another and changes in the inputs used

to estimate the ECL = (194) (1.117) (1.311)
On December 31, 2022 (62) (1.167) (1.830) (3.065)

Modified and testructured receivables for Islamic financing

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset, such as an Islamic finance receivable, when the terms of the contract are renegotiated
such that it becomes, in substance, a new financial instrument and the difference is recognized as a gain or loss on
derecognition before the impairment loss is recognized. On initial recognition, Islamic finance receivables are treated as Stage
1 for the purposes of ECL measurement unless the Islamic finance receivable created is considered an ACCI asset.

If the modification does not result in a significant change in cash flows, the modification does not result in derecognition.
Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original effective profit rate, the Bank recognizes a gain or loss on the
modification before the impairment loss is recognized.
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7. Receivables for Islamic financing (continuation)

Modified and restructured receivables for Islamic financing (continuation)

During 2023 and 2022, the Bank modified the terms of certain cotporate and retail contracts of Comnodity Murabaha. The
Bunk assessed these tnodifientions as immatertal As 2 tesult, w2023 he Bunlk recognized a gain on modification of terms of
corporate and retail contracts of Tovarna Murabaha, which does not result in derecognition, in the amount of 11,369 thousand
tenge (2021: loss of 310,714 thousand tenge).

Lhe table below shows assets renegotiated during the petiod and aceounted for as testiuctuted us 4 tesult, with a cottesponding
loss ou tnodilication ticutted by the Bank

2023 2022
Receivables for Islamic financing modified during the period
Amortized cost before modification 13.720.707 2.949.149
Net loss on modification of receivables for Islamic tinancing that does not result
in derecognition 10.597 (310.714)

Collateral and other mechanisms to improve credit quality

The amount and type of collateral required by the Bank depends on the credit risk assessment of the counterparty. Guidelines
have been established regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

Receivables for Islamic financing agreements on December 31, 2023 and 2022 are secured by real estate, movable property,
lnveutoties und cosporate guarantees. The tnanagelenl touttots the matket value of collateral, requests additional collateral
in accordance with the underlying agreement, and monitors the naket value of colluteral obiuined during its review of the
adequacy of the valuation provision for impairment losses on Islamic finance receivables.

L the absence of collateral or other credit enhancetent mechantsms, the FC [ s on Stage 4 recervables (ot lslatnic [uancng
on December 31 would have been higher by:

2023 2022
Commodity Murabaha - corporate part 460.435 1.584.056
460.435 1.584.056

Concentration of receivables for Islamic financing

The Bank has one counterparty under receivables agreements for Islamic financing on December 31, 2023 (December 31,
2022: one counterparty), claims against which represent more than 10% of the Bank’s equity. The aggregate amount of
receivables from this counterparty amounted to 1,475,906 thousand tenge on December 31, 2023 (December 31, 2022:
1,433,100 thousand tenge). The valuation provision of 208,665 thousand tenge (31 December 2022: 19,137 thousand tenge)
has been recognized against these receivables under ECL.

Receivables for Islamic financing are concentrated in the Republic of Kazakhstan in the following industries:

2023 2022
(Adjusted)

Trade enterprises 5.831.941 5.307.717
Construction and maintenance 3.305.326 3.433.454
Services 2.843.716 1.780.976
Machine building 1.792.857 1.782.480
Industrial production 817.035 459.115
Agriculture and food industry 337.711 980.309
Individuals and entrepreneurs 142.351 23.570
Manufacture of metal products - 874.896

Receivables for Islamic financing 15.070.937 14.642.517
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8. Loans to customers

Loans to customers on December 31 of the year comprise the following items:

2023 2022
Corntnetclal lending 22.803 AL B0
Total loans to customects 22.803 51.805
[ ess valuation provision fot TCLs (22.803) (1 803)

Loans to customers -

Valuation provision for ECLs

The following table summarizes the changes in gross carrying value and the related provision for ECLs for commercial lending
for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Commercial lending Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount on January 1, 2023 31.803 31.803
Assets that have been repaid (9.000) (9.000)
On December 31, 2023 22.803 22.803
Commercial lending Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (31.803) (31.803)
Assets that have been repaid 9.000 9.000
On December 31, 2023 (22.803) (22.803)
['he tollowing table summarizes the changes in gross carrying value and the related provision for TCT s for cotnnercial lending

for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Commercial fending Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount on January 1, 2022 38.303 38.303
Assets that have been repaid (6.500) (6.500)
On December 31, 2022 31.803 31.803
Commercial lending Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (26.524) (26.524)
Assets that have been repaid 6.500 6.500
Impact on F.CL as a result of changes in the inputs used to estimate the ECL (11.779) (11.779)
On December 31, 2022 (31.803) (31.803)

Collateral and other mechanisms to improve credit quality

The amount and type of collateral required by the Bank depends on the credit risk assessment of the counterparty. Guidelines
have been established regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

The main types of collateral obtained are listed below:
e In commercial lending — pledge of real estate, production equipment, inventories and other collateral.

The management monitors the matket value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral received duting its review of the adequacy of the provision for ECLs.
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9.  Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools

Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools represent the Bank’s investments in assets financed from the Wakala and
Mudaraba pools and are subject to the pool allocation and funding rules In view of the possible mismatch between the value
of assets and invesunent deposits of depositors due to eatly termination or redemption of the respective deposits, such defict
atlsing (o the pool tmay be anced (1o the Bank s own funds

Loans to customers as at December 31 include the following items:

2023 2022
( ommercial lending 1.737.099 1737099
Total loans to customers 1.737.099 1.737.099
Less valuation provision for ECLs (1.252.115) (1.498.205)
Loans to customets 484.984 238.894

Valuation provision for ECLs

The following is an analysis of the changes in the gross carrying value and related provision under the ECL for the investments
in the Wakala and Mudaraba pools for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount on January 1, 2023 1.737.099 1.737.099
Assets that have been repaid - -

On December 31, 2023 1737 099 1,737.099
luvesunents in Wakals and Mudataba pools Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL, on January 1, 2023 (1.498.205) (1.498.20R)

Assets that have been repaid

Impact on ECL as a result of changes in the inputs used to cstimate the DCL 246.090 246.090
On December 31, 2023 (1.252.115) (1.252.115)

The following is an analysis of the changes in the gross carrying value and related provision under the ECL for the investments
in the Wakala and Mudaraba pools for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount on January 1, 2022 1.870.478 1.870.478
Assets that have been repaid (133.379) (133.379)
On December 31, 2022 1.737.099 1.737.099
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (1.052.370) (1.052.370)
Assets that have been repaid 73.455 73.455
Impact on ECL as a result of changes in the inputs used to estimate the ECL (519.290) (519.290)
On December 31, 2022 (1.498.205) (1.498.205)

The analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and related provision for ECLs in the tables above is presented on a pro-
rata basis based on the Banl’s shate of investment in Wakala and Mudatalya pools.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

The movements in propetty, plant and equipment were as follows

Computers

and office

equiprent Velucles Other Total
Initial cost
Ou January 1, 2022 41.415 — 9/ 984 139.399
Receipts 1254 15.940 1.449 18.645
Disposals (11.415) - (4.808) (16.283)
Ou December 31, 2022 31.254 15.940 94.565 141.759
Receipts 14.690 - 21.622 36.312
Disposals (2.753) - (27.422) (30.175)
On December 31, 2023 43.191 15.940 88.765 147.896
Accumulated depreciation
On January 1, 2022 (20.502) — (30.194) (50.696)
Accrual for the year (7.721) (2.125) (22.574) (32.420)
Disposals 11.329 - 4.257 15.586
On December 31, 2022 (16.894) (2.125) (48.511) (67.530)
Accrual for the year (7.052) (3.189) (28.737) (38.978)
Disposals 2,680 - 23.419 26.099
On December 31, 2023 (21.266) (5.314) (53.829) (80.409)
Residual value
Ou Jauuaty 1, 2022 20915 — 6/./90 88./03
On December 31, 2022 14.360 13.815 46.054 14.229

On December 31, 2023 21.925 10.626 34.936 67.487
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11. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The movements in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities wete as follows:

Right-of-use
assels Lease linbilities

On January 1, 2022 237.447 261.684
New receipts 216.142 216,142
Disposals (29.498) (45.007)
Amortization accrual (138.318) —
Financial expense - 29.113
Payments ' - (165.693)
On December 31, 2022 285.773 296.239
New receipts 160.531 160.531
Disposals (83.390) (87.277)
Amortization accrual (124.494) -
Financial expense - 41.258
Payments - (157.109)
On December 31, 2023 238.420 253.642
Right-of-usc assets tepresent the Bauk’s tight 1o use premises under lease agreements
12.  Inltangible assels
The movements in intangible assets were as follows:

Soflware and

licenses

Initial cost
On January 1, 2022 408.176
Receipts 1.633
On December 31, 2022 409.809
Receipts 32.584
On December 31, 2023 442.393
Accumulated amortization
On January 1, 2022 (68.406)
Accrual for the year (82.437)
On December 31, 2022 (150.843)
Accrual for the year (82.466)
On December 31, 2023 (233.309)
Residual value
On January 1, 2022 339.770
On December 31, 2022 258.966
On December 31, 2023 209.084

13. Inventories

Inventories on December 31, 2023 and 2022 include real estate recovered by the Bank from customers who have defaulted
on their loan repayment obligations to the Bank.
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14. Taxation

Corporate income tax (savings)/expense includes the following items:

2023 2022

Current corporate income Lax expense 57.250 -
Deferred cotpotute incowe tax (savings)/expense — otlgluadon and teversal of tetnpotary

ditferences 86.579 (108.871)

Corporate income tax (savings)/expense 143.829 (108 871)

The Banl’s income is taxable ouly in the Republic of Kazakhstan. In accordance with the tax legislation, the applicable
corporate income tax rate in 2023 and 2022 1s 20%.

Reconciliation between the corporate income tax expense recorded in these financial statements and (loss)/profit before
corporate income tax expense multiplied by the statutory tax rate for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

2023 2022
(Loss)/profit before corporate income tax expense 149.151 (705.868)
Statutory tax rate 20% 20%
Theoretical corporate income tax (savings)/expense calculated at the statutory
rate 29.830 (141.173)
Income not subject to taxation (3.877) (3.692)
Expenses on credit losses not deductible 17.986 3.142
Non-deductible administrative expenses 7.560 229,
Other expenacs, not deductible 92.330 30.561
Corporate income tax (savings)/expense 143.829 (108.871)

Deterred corporate income tax assets and liabilittes on December 31, as well as thetr movements for the respective yeats,
include the following items:

Origination Origination
and reversal of and reversal of
temporary temporary
differences in differences in
2021 profit or loss 2022 profit or loss 2023
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
Tax losses to be carried forward = 84.507 84.507 (84.507) -
Reccivables for Islamic financing = 89.377 89.377 (89.377) -
Lease liabilities 52.3537 6.911 59.248 (59.248) -
Receivables 16.760 (3.140) 13.620 (2.832) 10.788
Accrual for unused vacaton days 4.542 667 5.209 450 5.659
Accrual for professional services 4.302 492 4.794 (1.394) 3.400
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assels - - = - -
Other taxes 2721 367 3.088 177 3.265
80.662 179.181 259.843 (236.731) 23.112
Unrecognized deferred income tax assets - (84.507) (84.507) 84.507 -
Deferred corporate income tax assets 80.602 94.674 175.336 (152.224) 23.112
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences
Receivables for Islamic financing (24.346) 24.346 = - -
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (18.890) (483) (19.373) 8.490 (10.883)
Right-of-use assets (47.489) (9.666) (57.155) 57.155
Deferred corporate income tax liabilities (90.725) 14.197 (76.528) 65.645 (10.883)

Net deferred corporate income tax asset/ (liability) (10.063) 108.871 98.808 (86.579) 12.229
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15. Other assets and liabilities

Other assets on December 31 include the following items:

Other financial assets
Guatantee teceivables
Recervables on inventories sold
Guarantee deposit
Cotrrssions leceivable

Other financial assets

Less valuation provision for ECLs
Total other financial assets

Other non-financial assets
Prepayment for software and information and consulting services

Prepayments for other goods and services
Other

Less provision for impairment losses (Note21)
Total other non-financial assets
Otlier assets

2023 2022
389 054 399.771
119.021 118.603

25 000 25.000
17.222 /L6
6.830 L1168
558.027 561.738

(213.534) (317.661)

344.493 244.077

- 350.264
110.304 7.445
12.022 4.577
122.326 362.286
(298 653)

122.326 63.633
466.819 307.710

Lhe following 1s an analyeis of the changes in the valuation provisions for TCL on other fuancial assets for the yeat ended

December 31, 2023:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (1.113) (8.034) (308.514) (317.661)
Net change in provision for the year (Note 27) 514 8.034 66.376 74.924
Write-off of asset - - 29.203 29.203
On December 31, 2023 (599) - (212.935) (213.534)

The following is an analysis of the changes in the valuation provisions for ECL on other financial assets for the vear ended

December 31, 2021:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (1.797) (9.444) (208.593) (219.834)
Net change in provision for the year (Noze 21) 684 1.410 (99.921) (97.827)
On December 31, 2022 (1.113) (8.034) (308.514) (317.661)
Other liabilities on December 31 include the following items:

2023 2022

Other financial Liabilities
Payables for professional services 17.000 33.600
Settlements on taxes and other obligatory payments to the budget 16.325 -
Total other financial liabilities 33.325 33.600
Other non-financial liabilities
Deferted income 96.539 110.817
Accrued expenses on unused vacations 28.296 26.045
Charity account 57 719
Other 24.081 26.296
Total other non-financial liabilities 148.973 163.877
Other liabilities 182.298 197.477

16. Amounts due to credit organizations

Amounts due to credit institutions on December 31, 2023 include balances in current accounts with fore

691,764 thousand tenge (December 31, 2022: 724,993 thousand tenge).

i
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17. Amounts due to customers

Amounts due to customers on December 31 include the following items:

2023 2022
Curttrent accounts 6 071159 16.684.670
Tetn deposts 2.656.137 1./80.086
Customer accounts 8.727.296 18.464.756
Held as collateral agamst guarantees (Naze? 9) 2.656.137 1./80.080

Customer accounts of 5,147,067 thousand tenge (58.98%) on December 31, 2023 represented the ten largest customers
(December 31, 2022: 8,727,296 thousand tenge (93.05%). The total amount of funds on the accounts of the three largest
customers amounted to 3,827,776 thousand tenge (43.86%) on December 31, 2023.

Amounts due to customers on December 31 include the following items.

2023 2022
Cuttent accounts
Private enterprises 5.934.168 16.501.560
Individuals 129.070 183.110
6.063.238 16.684.670
Term deposits
Private enterprises 2.664.058 1.780.086
B 2.664.058 1.780.086
Customncer accoutils 8.727 296 18.464.756
Lhe breakdown of custotner accounts by industry sector is as follows
2023 2022
Construction 5.123.904 4.779.436
Industrial production 1.314.958 1.639.140
Trade 1.244.031 222.893
Individuals 182.382 183.110
Energy 149.961 263.033
Transportation and communications 39.845 11.016.618
Financial leasing 17.708 801
Fuel industry 1.615 4,022
Agriculture 123 79
Other 652.769 355.624
Amounts due to customers 8.727.296 18.464.756

18. Equity

The total number of authorized, issued and tully paid ordinary shares of the Bank amounted to 10,000,000 shates on December
31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. The issue price of the shares amounted to 1,005 tenge per ordinary share.

The share capital of the Bank was contributed by the shareholders in tenge and they are entitled to dividends and any capital

distributions in tenge. Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote. No dividends were accrued ot paid in 2023, 2022 and 2021.

19. Contractual and contingent liabilities

Political and economic conditions

Kazakhstan continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required by a market
economy. The future stability of the Kazakhstani economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and developments and
the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government. The management belicves
it is taking appropriate measures to support the sustainability of the Bank’s business in the current circumstances,
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19. Contractual and contingent liabilities (continuation)

Legal actions and claims

The Bank is potentially subject to various legal proceedings related to business operations. ‘T'he Bank does not believe that it
is probable that vutstanding or threatened clatms of these types, individually or 1n the apprepute, will have o materal adverse
ctect on the Bank’s (mancal conditon or results of operations.

The Bank assesses the likelihood of material liabilitics arising from individual ditcunstances and establishes provisions in its
tinancual statements only when it s probable that events giving tisc Lo a liability will secur and the amount of (he liabiility coty
Le teasonably estitnated. The Bank has not made any provision In these financial statements for any of the contingent liabilittes
described above.

Unforeseen tax payments

The tax environment in the Republic of Kazakhstan is subject to change, inconsistent application and interpretation.
Differences between the interpretation of Kazakhstani laws and regulations by the Bank and Kazakhstani authorities may
result in the imposition of additional taxes, penalties and interest.

Kazakhstan tax legislation and practice are in a state of continuous development and therefore are subject to varying
interpretations and frequent changes, which may be retroactive. In some instances, tax legislation refers to IFRS for taxation
putposes and the interpretation of the relevant IFRS provisions by the Kazakhstani tax authorities may differ from the
accounting policies, judgments and estimates applied by management in the preparation of these financial statements, which
tmay cteate additonal tax liabilides for the Bank. Fiscal periods remain open to retrospective audits by the tax authorities for
three years following the end of the tax year.

The Bank’s management believes that its interpretations of the relevant legislation are appropriate and the Bank’s tax positions
are teasonable
Contractual and contingent liabililies

The Bank’s financial liabilities and contingencies on December 31 comprise the tollowing items:

2023 2022

Loan liabilities
Guarantees issued 11.008.961 9.327.559
Liabilities to provide Islamic financing 1.205.424 1.033.733
12.214.385 - 10.361.292
Amounts due to customers held as collateral against guarantees issued (Notel7) (2.656.137) (1.780.0806)
Valuation provision for ECL on loan liabilities (970.925) (647.101)

The Commitment Agreement provides for the Bank’s right to unilaterally withdraw from the agreement in case of any
unfavorable conditions for the Bank, including breach of agreements by customers, deterioration of financial performance
and other conditions.
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19. Contractual and contingent liabilities (continuation)

Contractual and contingent liabilities (continuation)

The analysis of changes in the valuation provision for ECLs for the vear ended December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Guarantees fssued Stage | Stage 2 Stagre 3 ACCI Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (219.640) (14.423) (385.484) - (619.547)
New assets created or assets acquired (246.423) = - (98.000) (344.423)
Assets that have been repard 179.995 6.504 30.522 - 217.021
Transfers in Stage 2 26.012 (26.012) &= - =
Transfers in Stage 3 13.195 7.920 (21.115) - —
Net change in ECL for the year (11.997) (53.115) (88.614) - (153.726)
On December 31, 2023 (258.858) (79.126) (464.691) (98.000) (900.675)
Liabilities to provide Islamic financing Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2023 (27.057) = 497) (27.554)
New assets created or assets acquired (10.741) — - (10.741)
Transfers in Stage 2 4.890 (4.890) - =
Transfers in Stage 3 1.193 = (1.193) =
Assets that have been repaid 54 - = 54
Net change in TICL [or the yeat (3.417) (23.670) (4.922) (32.009)
On December 31, 2023 (35.078) (28.560) (6.612) (70.250)
The analysis of changes in the valuation provision for TCLs fot (ie yeat ended Decetnber 31, 2022 is as follows:
Guarantees issued Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision fot FECL on January 1, 2022 (36.2.820) (33.511) (17°7.085) (573.416)
New assets created or assets acquired (112.203) = - (112.203)
Assets that have been repaid 195.853 33.511 35.467 264.831
Transfers in Stage 2 ; 13.528 (13.528) — &=
Transfers in Stage 3 6.765 = (6.765) =
Net change in ECL for the year 39.237 (895) (237.101) (198.759)
On December 31, 2022 (219.640) (14.423) (385.484) (619.547)
Liabilities to provide Islamic financing Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Provision for ECL on January 1, 2022 (21.477) = (34.695) (56.172)
New assets created or assets acquired (6.659) = = (6.659)
Assets that have been repaid 952 - 34.426 35.378
Net change in ECL for the year 127 - (228) (101)

On December 31, 2022 (27.057) - (497) (27.554)
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19.  Contractual and contingent liabilities (continuation)

Trust management operations

The Bank acts as agentin investing funds received under Wakala agreements and acts as Mudarib under Mudaraba agreements:

2023 2022
Mudaraba
Unutilized portion of Mudaraba deposits on January 1 328.054 ‘14 4606
Depostts recetved 110.842 579.663
Deposits withdiawn (257.604) (325.730)
Exchange differences - 755
Unutilized portion of Mudaraba deposits on December 31 181.292 328.054

Income accrued on Islamic financing contracts - =

Profit attributable to customers on Wakala and Mudaraba deposits = -

The Bank shall not bear the risk for the utilized portion of the Wakala and Mudaraba deposits unless the deposits have been
lost due to misconduct, negligence or breach of terms and conditions agreed by the Bank, in which case such losses shall be

borne by the Bank.
20. Revenues from Commodity Murabaha contracts

In 2023, revenues from Commodity Murahaha contracts amounted to 1,603,089 thousand tenge (20220 1,386,932 (iousand
tenge), including net loss from modification resulling from changes in conttactual cash flows under Commodity Murabaha
contracts that did not result in derecognition of 322,871 thousand tenge (2022: 310,714 thousand tenge).

21.  Expenses on credit losses and other impairment charges

The followwg tuble preseuts the BCL eapenses on fuatclal insttumnents tecoguized in profit or loss for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Note Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 ACCI Total
Cash and cash equivalents 6 - - (13.463) = (13.463)
Receivables for Islamic financing ¥ (380.770) (1.075.148) 709.380 540.174 (206.364)
Loans to customers 8 - = 9.000 = 9.000
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba
pools J] - = 246.090 - 246.090
Other financial assets 15 514 8.034 66.376 = 74.924
Loan liabilities 19 (92.529) (70.281) (63.014) (98.000) (323.824)
(472.785) (1.137.395) 954.369 442.174 (213.637)

The following table presents the ECL expenses on financial instruments recognized in profit or loss for the year ended
December 31, 2022:

Note Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 AcCCr Total
Cash and cash equivalents 6 22.416 (20.301) (12.901) = (10.786)
Receivables for Islamic financing
(Adjusted) 7 (524.845) 1.311.185 (998.864) (333.849) (546.373)
Loans to customers 8 - = (5.279) = (5.279)
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba
pools 9 = = (445.835) - (445.835)
Other financial assets 15 684 1.410 (99.921) - (97.827)
Loan liabilities 19 117.307 32.6106 (167.436) — (17.513)
(384.438) 1.324.910 (1.730.236) (333.849) (1.123.613)

The movements in the valuation provisions for impairment of other non-financial assets were as follows:

2023 2022
On January 1, 2023 (298.653) =
(Accrual)/recovery 298.653 (298.653)
On December 31, 2023 = L H2OBB53).
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22. Net commission income

Net commission income includes the following items:

2023 2022
Guarantees igsued 516.650 613.924
Cash tramsactons 10.96'/ 7 899
Transfer operations 25.886 23.831
Mautenance of cuslotnet nccounts 6.103 54586
Agency commission and remuneration under Wakalu agreements and Mudarib’s

share in profits unda Mudatala agreeinents (Nose /9) 250 —

Other 3.978 4.428
Commission income 563.834 721.538
Transfer transactions (10.574) (10.539)
Other (55.409) (75.934)
Commission expenses (65.983) (86.473)
Net commission income 497.851 635.065
23.  Personnel expenses and other operating expenses
Personnel expenses and other operating expenses comprise the following:

2023 2022
Salaties and bonuses 402.078 101.383
Social security contributions 48.306 16.778
Personnel expenses 450.384 448.161
Depteciation and amortization (Notes 10, 1] and 12) 245.938 253.175
Software technical support 69.165 63.417
Taxes other than corporate income tax 42.430 41.269
Protesstonal services 32.384 33.744
Communication services 29.733 33.328
Security services 22.862 29.321
Travel expenses 4.822 14.027
Collection 9.094 11.087
Utlities 6.525 8.002
Membership fees 9.936 6.187
Office supplies 1.426 5.236
Lease 2.460 4.715
Repairs and maintenance 25.655 3.893
Advertising and marketing 1.187 2.385
Transportation costs 2.130 2172
Representation expenses 175 248
Other 43.221 (69.258

Other operating expenses 549.143 581.464
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24. Risk management

Introduction

Thete are inherent risks in the Bank’s activities. I'he Bank manages tisk (htough an ongoing process of identification,
measurement and monitoring, and by setting appropriate risk limits and other internial contiols. The Lisk Litagelnenl process
is ctitical to the Bank’s continued profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risks arising {rom his
or her responsibilities. The Bank is exposed to eredit risl, liquidity tisk, Shatiah non-cotnpliance risk and matket risk '1'he
Bank s also exposed to operational tisks.

The independent wsk control process does not apply to business risks, such as clLianges in the environment, technology or
changes in the mdustry. Such risks are controlled by the Bank through the strategic planning process.

The risk management process includes identification, measurement, control and limitation of risks, which are performed by
the Bank on an ongoing basis.
Risk management structure

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for identifying and controlling risks; however, there are also separate
independent bodies that are responsible for managing and controlling risks.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall approacty o tisk tmanagement and for approving the risk manage ment
strategy and principles.

Managenent Board

"The Management Board’s responsibility 1s to oversee the Bank’s risk management process.

Risk management

The Risk Management Division is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk management procedures to ensure an
independent control process,

The primary objective of the division is to establish and maintain an effective risk management system that provides for the
application of risk identification and control methods that ensure effective identification, assessment and limitation of the
Bank’s risks taking into account the type and volume of its operations. This division also ensures collection of complete
information in the risk assessment and risk reporting system.

Bantk Treasury

The Bank’s Treasury Department is responsible for managing the Bank’s assets and labilities and the overall financial
structure. The Treasury Department is also primarily responsible for the Bank’s liquidity and funding risks.

Internal audit

The Bank’s risk management processes are audited annually by the internal audit function, which examines both the adequacy
of the procedures and the Bank’s compliance with the procedures. The internal audit department discusses the results of these
reviews with management and presents its findings and recommendations to the Board of Directors of the Bank.
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Introduction (continuation)

Risk avsesment diud 1isk commmnication systems

The Bank’s risks are measured using a method that reflects both expected losses that are likely to arise in the normal course
of business and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the largest actual losses based on statistical models. The models
use probabilily valucs dettved fLom past expertence and adjusted for economic conditions. ['he Bank also models “worst case
sceniatios” that would occur if events considered unlikely to occur

Risk monitoring and control is primarily based on limits set by the Bank. Such limits reflect the business strategy and market
environment in which the Bank operates and the level of risk that the Bank is willing to accept, with a parficular focus on
specific industries. In addition, the Bank monitors and evaluates its overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate
tisk position across all types of risks and exposures.

Information received on all activities is reviewed and processed to analyze, control and early detection of tisks. This
information is presented with explanations to the Management Board and the heads of each business unit. The report contains
information on the aggregate exposure to credit risk, credit forecasts, exceptions to the established risk limits, liquidity ratios
and changes in risk levels. Monthly risk information is provided by industry, customer and geographic region. On a monthly
basis, the Credit Committee determines the need for an provision for credit losses. On a quarterly basis, the Board of Directors
receives a detailed risk report, which contains all the necessary information to assess the Bank’s risks and make approptiate
decisions.

Various tisk reports are prepated by the Bank far all levels and distributed to easuge that all divisions of ie Bunk Luve uccess
lo extensive, relevant and up-to-date information.

A weekly meeting of the Bank’s Management Board is held with the invitation of managets or employees of other divisions
of the Bank to discuss efforts to maintain acceptable risk levels. I an increase in tisk level and/or violation of risk limit 1s
identified, the meeting 1s held more frequently.

Risk reduction

As part of risk management, the Bank monitors risks arising fromn changes in profit rates, exchange rates, credit risk and
exposures arising from forecast transactions.

The Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risk (sce below for additional information).

Exccessive concentrations of rick

Concentrations of risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar activides, or operate in the same
geogtaphical area, or have similar economic characteristics and, as a result, changes in economic, political or other conditions
have a similar effect on the ability of those counterparties to meet their contractual obligations. Concentrations of risk reflect
the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to changes in conditions that affect a particular industry or geographic region.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines aimed at
maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit tisk are monitored and managed.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers o counterparties failed to discharge their contractual
obligations. The Bank manages credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual
couulerparlies and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

Counterparty limits are determined using a credit risk classification system that assigns a credit rating to each counterparty.
Ratings are reviewed on a regular basis. The credit quality review process allows the Bank to assess the extent of potential
losses in relation to the risks to which it is exposed and take appropriate action. :
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Credit risk (continuation)

Rivkr ariving from foan babibities

The Bank provides its customers with the possibility to abtamn guarantees, which may require the Bank to make payments on
behalf of customers.Customers reimbutse (e Bauk fot such payinents in accotdance with the tettus of (he guatantees and
letters of credit. Under these agreements the Bauk is exposed to risks similar to financing risks, which are mitigated by the
satne tisk conttol procedures and policies,

The carrying amounts of statement of financial position line itemns, excluding the effect of mitigation through the use of master
netting and collateral agreements, best represent the maximum exposure to credit risk for these items.

For more detailed information about the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, refer to the
individual notes. The effect of collateral and other risk mitigation techniques is presented in Noze 7 Receivables for Islamic
financing, No#e 8§ Loans to customers, Note 9 Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba pools and Nete 19 Contractual and
contingent liabilities.

Tmpairment assessment

The Bank calculates ECL based on several probability-weighted scenarios to estimate the expected cash flow shortfalls, which
are discounted using the effective profit rate. The cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows due to the entity
under the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. The mechanism for calculating ECL is described
below and the main elements are as follows:

Piobubiility  of - The probability of defindt is ann estimnate of e likelihood of default oceutring over a specified time horizon
default (PD) Default can only occur at a specific point in time during the period under review if the asset has not been
derecognized and is still part of the portfolio.

Exposure at  The exposure at defanit is an estimate of the amount subject to default at any future date, taking into account

default (EAD) expected changes in that amount after the balance sheet date, including contractual ot othet contractual
payments of principal and profit, expected repayments of outstanding financing and fines and penalties
resulting from late payments.

Loss given  The loss given defantt rate is an estimate of the losses arising in the event of default at a particular point in

default (LGD) time. It is calculated based on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that
the lender expects to receive, including from the realization of collateral. It is usually expressed as a
percentage of EAD.

The valuation provision for ECLs is calculated based on credit losses expected to occur over the life of the asset (expected
lifetime credit losses or lifetime ECLs) if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial tecognition, otherwise
the valuation provision is calculated at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (12-month ECLs). 12-month
ECLs are the part of full term ECLs that represent ECLs that arise from defaults on a financial instrument that occur within
12 months after the reporting date. Full term and 12-month ECLs are calculated either on an individual or group basis
depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Credit risk (continuation)

Lnepairyent aisevimsent (continmation)

The Bank has established a policy to assess at the end of each repotting period whether there has been a significant increase
in the credit risk of a financial instrument since initial tecoguition, by considering changes in the tisk of default over the
remaining lite of the financial mstwnent. Dased on the process described above, the Bank aggregates Islamic finance
teceivables provided Ly the Bauk into dic lollowlng groups.

Stage 1- Upon initial tecognition of financial instunent, the Bauk tecoguizes valuation provision cqual o 12-
month ECL. Stage 1 also includes financial insttwnents whose credit risk has decreased to the extent that
they have been transferred from Stage 2.

Stage 2: If the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Bank
recognizes valuation provision in an amount equal to the lifetime ECL. Stage 2 also includes financial
instruments whose credit risk has decreased to the extent that they have been transferred from Stage 3.

Stage 3: Financial instruments that are credit-impaired. The Bank recognizes valuation provision in an amount
equal to the full term ECL.

ACCL: Acquired or created credit-impaired (ACCI) assets are financial assets that are credit-impaired at the time
of initial recognition. Upon initial recognition of ACCI, the assets are measured at fair value and
subsequently financial proceeds are recognized using the effective intetest rate of return adjusted for credit
tisk. The valuation provision for ACCL is tecognized or derecognized only to the extent that there has
been a subsequent change in the amount of ACCI over the entire term.

Defining defanlt and recovery

The Bank considcts a fiancial instiunent (o be in default and therefore treats it as Stage 3 (credit-impatted assets). for the
putposes of the ECL calculation 1n any case where the customer is more than 60 days past due on contractual payments. The
Bank considers that a default has occurred with respect to funds in banks and takes immediate remedial action if the required
intraday payments specified in the individual agreements have not been made at the close of the business day.

As part of the qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Bank also considers a number of events that may
indicate that payment is unlikely. If such events occur, the Bank carefully analyzes whether such an event results in default
and whether the assets should be classified as Stage 3 for the purposes of the ECL calculation or whether Stage 2 would be
appropriate. Such events include the following:

®  The customer’s internal rating indicating default or proximity to default;

e A write-off of part and/or all of the customer’s debt (hat was caused by a significant increase in credit risk since the
funding was provided;

*  Significant decrease in the value of collateral when the recovery of the financial instrument is expected to result from
the sale of the collateral;

®  Restructuring due to deterioration of the customer’s financial position;
e  The existence of reasonable and reliable information about the debtor’s significant financial difficulties; and
®  The filing of a bankruptcy petition by the customer.

In accordance with the Bank’s policy, financial instruments are considered ‘cured’ and therefore transferred out of Stage 3
when none of the criteria for default has been observed for at least twelve consecutive months or the rating of the financial
instrument has improved in the absence of other indications of tmpairment. The decision as to whether an asset should be
classified as Stage 2 or Stage 1 when it ‘recovers’ depends on the revised credit rating at the time of recovery and an assessment
of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
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24. Risk management (continuation)
Credit risk (continuation)

Tnternad vating aviignment and defanlt probabifity arve Fignt freces

Rating assessment of financtal strument quality by clients 1s based on the creditworthiness class (assigned based on the
tesults of analysis of the client’s financlal and economic condition) on the financing collateral (collateral), on the provided
business plan (except for retail finaneing). Besides, sucli fuclots as [ancing tetias, availability of the dient’s own funds i the
financed project, sphere of activity, period of existence of the enterprise, avuilubility of nccounts payable to other ente rptiscs,
credit history of the client and payment discipline on current liabilitics ate takew into account.

Depending on the assigned internal credit ratings, the financial instrument is allocated (o Stages Lot [urther caleulaton of the
ECL, taking into account such factors as cutrent delinquency, number of testructurings, availability of grace period,
information on intended/misuse, information on significant financial difficulties, seizures on the client’s accounts, etc.

Treasury and interbank relationships

The Bank’s treasury relations, which include relations with counterparties such as broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing
organizations, were absent in the reporting year. If such relations arise, they are analyzed by the Bank’s Treasury Department.

The Bank evaluates clients depending on the type of financial instrument (corporate/retail). For a corporate financial
instrument, the Bank uses a valuation model, including those based on the client’s accounting data, future cash flow forecasts,
and the submitted business plan. For a retail financial instrument, a customer credit scoring model is used for valuation.

Cummeriial financing

e cotnercial fnancing, clients are assessed sequentially by the Lending Department, Legal Depatunent and Risk
Management Service Risk assessment is based on vatious data, such as financial position of the eustomer, collatetal (o1
financing, term of financing, assessment of the subiutied business plat, avadability of the customer’s own funds in the
[inanced project, arca of activity, dwation of (he company's existence, existence of accounts payable to other companies,
credit history of the customer and payment discipline on current liabilities. The client’s financial position is assessed on the
basis of cash flow projections, histotical financial information, bankruptey probability assessment, current financial ratios such
as liquidity, financial leverage (solvency), profitability and debt service ratios.

The Bank uses the following internal credit rating levels:

Rating by external

international rating PD for the whole
Internal rating level agency Description of the internal rating level term
91-150 mismatched Reliable client 12%-30%
71-90 mismatched Client with minimal risk 13%-64%
56-70 mismatched Client with medium risk 9%-62%
41-55 mismatched Client with high risk 100%
40 and lower mismatched Client with unacceptable risk 100%

Retail financing

Retail finance comptises secured receivables from Islamic finance to individuals. This product is also assessed by assigning
the level of internal credit rating, which is based on the results of scoting based on various qualitative and quantitative
characteristics of the client, as well as taking into account the analysis performed on the financial and economic condition of
the client, on loan collateral (pledge), availability of the client’s own funds in the financed ptoject, payment discipline on
current liabilities. The nutnbet of days overdue for each loan is a key factor in calculating impairment..
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Credit risk (continuation)

bixpasire af defunlt

"'he amount exposed to the risk of default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of financial insttuments subject (o
npaltinent assesseut and teflects both the ability of the customer to increase its debt as it approaches default and the
possibility of catly tepayincut. To caleulate TAD for Stage | financial istuments, (he Bank estmates the probability of
default within 1?7 tnontls (o estitiate 12 o TCT Tow Stage ?, Stage 3, and ACCI (inancial assels, TAD is considered [t
eveunls tal could oceur over the life of the instrument.

The Bank determines the EAD by modeling the range of possible outcomes upon default at different points in time, which
corresponds to multiple scenarios. Then, depending on the results of the Bank’s models, each economic scenario is assigned
a PD in accordance with IFRS 9.

Loss given defanlt

In the case of commercial financing, LGD is assessed on a monthly basis by the Credit and Deposit Operations Analysis and
Administration Department and reviewed by the Bank’s Risk Management Department.

The credit risk assessment is based on a standardized LGD assessment model, which results in certain LGD levels. These
LGD levels take into account the expected EAD compared to the amounts expected to be recovered or realized as a result of
the sale of held collateral.

The Bunk groups its financial products into homogencous groups based on the tnain chatactetstics that ate televant for the
estimation of future cash flows. For this purpose, historical loss experience is utilized and a wide range of transaction
characteristics (e g type of product, types of collateral) as well as customer characteristics are considered. Where historical

loss infotmation is not available, it is acceptable to use data for similar groups of financial instruments of second-tier banks in
Kazakhstan.

Where appropriate, new data and forward-looking economic scenatios are used to determine the level of LGD under IFRS 9
for each group of financial instruments. When evaluating forwatrd-looking information, expected outcomes are based on
multiple scenatios.Examples of key inputs include changes in the value of collateral, payment status or other factors that
indicate a loss for a group of instruments.

LGD levels are estimated for all Stage 1, 2 and 3 asset classes and ACCLInputs for such LGD levels are estimated and, where
possible, adjusted through testing based on historical data, taking into account recent recoveries.Where appropriate, such data
is determined for each economic scenatio.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Bank continually reviews all assets for which the valuation provision is calculated. To determine how much to charge for
an instrument or portfolio of instruments (i.e. 12-month or lifetime ECLs), the Bank considers whether the credit risk of the
nstrument or portfolio of instruments has increased significantly since initial recognition. The Bank considers that the credit
tisk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition if one or more indications of significant
financial difficulty of the customer are identified:

For legal entities:
®  The growth of losses in dynamics for the previous period is at least twelve months;

e Unfavorable value of ratios calculated in accordance with the internal regulatory document, indicating a low level of
solvency, high dependence on borrowed funds;

° Presence of negative equity capital;

o Stable (for 3 or more reporting periods (quarters)) decrease in cash flows from the core business, which indicates a
decrease in market share, lack of confidence in the Bank that the measures taken by the client (debtor, co-botrower)
are effective to stabilize its financial position;
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24. Risk management (continuation)
Credit risk (continuation)

Siguafecant neveare s ervdit ek (cantinuation)

° Provision of financing to a client (debtor, co-borrower) to repay previously provided financing due to deterioration of
the client’s (debtor’s, co-borrower’s) financial position.

For legal entities with the intended use of funds for “investment purposes” (investment financing):
g purp g

o Permanent and (or) significant detetioration of the client’s (co-borrower’s) financial condition;

o Measures taken by the client (co-borrower) are ineffective to stabilize its financial position;

° Availability of bailout for a petiod not exceeding 1 (one) year;

° Force majeure and other circumstances that caused material damage to the client (co-borrower) (in the amount of 6

or more average monthly receipts from the client’s core business) but did not lead to termination of its activities.

o The Bank also applies an additional qualitative method to indicate that there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk of an asset, for example, transfer of a customer/financial instrument to the problem list or restructuring due to a
credit event. In some cases, the Bank may also consider the events set out in the Defining Default section above as an
indication of a significant increase in credit risk rather than a default. Trrespective of changes in credit rating levels, if
contractual payments ate overdue by more than 30 days, it is considered that there has been a significant increase in
credit sk smce mutal recognition.

Whett asseasing O ona group basts (ot a group of similar assets, the Bank applies the same principles (o ussesstng whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
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24. Risk management (continuation)
Credit risk (continuation)

Corouping of financial assets that are mreasured on o group basés
Depending on the factors mentioned below, the Bank calculates ECL either on an individual basis or on a group basis.

An individual financial asset is an asset whose gross carrying amount at the reporting date exceeds 0 ?% of equity according
to the financial statetnents, but is not less than fifty million tenge, or 2 financial asset that represents a claim on an interrelated
patty

Asset classes for which the Bank calculates ECL on an individual basis include the following:

e  All Stage 3 assets regardless of financial asset class;

®  Financial assets that were classified as ACCI at the time of derecognition of the original financing and recognition
of new financing as a result of debt restructuring.

Assets classes for which the Bank calculates ECL on a group basis include the tollowing:
®  Retail and corporate portfolios in Stage 1 and 2.

The Bank organizes these financial assets into homogeneous groups depending on internal and external characteristics of the
financial instruments, e.g. internal credit rating, delinquency rates, type of product, collateral ratio or industry in which the
customer opcrates.

Forecast information and multiple economic scenarios

In 1ts ECL calculation models, the Bank uses forecast information on GDP growth rates for the future year as cconomic
ipiLs

The inputs and models used in the calculation of k(L do not necessarily reflect all market charactersstics at the date of the
financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or ovetlaps are sometimes made as temporary adjustments if such
differences are material.

The Bank adjusts the value of the macro indicator to smooth the effect of historical disturbances by notmalizing the current
value of GDP growth based on the average of the current year’s GDP and the standard deviation of the historical GDP value.
In calculating the ECL on December 31, 2023, the Bank used a forecast for 2023 of 0.196 after adjustment.

To obtain forecast information, the Bank uses data from external sources (external rating agencies, government agencies such
as central banks, statistical agencies, authoritative analytical agencies). This indicator is analyzed by specialists of the Bank’s
Risk Management Setvice.

Key factors ECL scenario Significance Period
6,0 2013

42 2014

1,2 2015

1,1 2016

4,1 2017

] i ; 41 2018
GDP growth, % Basis 45 2019
2,6) 2020

1 2021

3;1 2022

49 2023
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Credit risk (continuation)

Credit quality by class of financial assets

The Bauk 1nanages (e credit quality of financtal assets ustng an nternal rating system as described above. The table below
shows the credit quality by class of financial assets and credit related commitments based on the Bank’s credit taling sysletn
on December 31, 2023

Client with Client with Client with
minimal medium Client with  unaccepta
Note risk risk high risk ble tisk Total
Cash and cash
equivalents (excluding
cash on hand) 6
Stage 1 2.761.432 - = = 2.761.432
Stage 2 = 2.668.475 o = 2.668.475
Stage 3 - = = ~ -
Receivables for Islamic
tinancing: 7
Commodity Murabaha — Stage 1 251.768 - - - 251.768
corporate part Stage 2 = 1.536.150 = - 1.536.150
Stage 3 - - 9.784.754 2.610.843  12.395.597
ACCI = = 843.984 - 843.984
(Qard Hassan Stage 1 11 652 = - = 11.652
Commodity Murabaha
retail part Stage 1 28.618 - = = 28.618
Stage 2 - 2.482 - = 2.482
Stage 3 — — 686 - 686
Investments in Wakala
and Mudaraba pools 9 Stage 3 = - . 484.984 484.984
Other financial assets Stage 1 63.388 - - - 63.388
Stage 2 = = = = -
15 Stage3 - - 281.105 — 281.105
Financial guarantees Stage 1 8.794.988 = = = 8.794.988
Stage 2 = 752.660 = — 752.660
19 Stage 3 = = 560.638 - 560.638
Liabilities to provide
Islamic financing Stage 1 839.703 - - - 839.703
19 Stage 2 — 271.440 B = 271.440
Stage 3 - - 24.031 - 24.031

Total 12.751.549 5.231.207  11.495.198 3.095.827  32.573.781
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Credit risk (continuation)

Credit quality by class of financial assets

The Bank manuges the credit quality of financial assets using an internal rating system as described above. The table below
shows the credit quality by class of financial assets and credit related commitments based on the Banl’s credit rating system
on December 31, 2022:

Client with  Clicnit with Client with
minimal medium Client with  unaccepta
Note 1isk risk high risk ble tisk 1otal
Cash and cash
equivalents (excluding
cash on hand) 6
Stage 1 14.585.733 - - —  14.585.733
Stage 2 - 721.628 = o 721.628
Stage 3 - - = 3.241 3.241
Recetvables for Islamic
financing: 7
Commodity Murabaha — Stage 1 31.507 — — = 31.507
corporate part Stage 2 —  10.444.425 = = 10.444.425
Stage 3 - — 1.892.045 1.792.333 3.684.378
ACCI - = 447.670 = 447.6'10
Qard Hassan Stage 1 20.343 = 20.343
Commodity Murabaha —
retail pact Stage 1 9.282 - - = 9.282
Stage 2 = 4.090 = - 4.090
Stage 3 = = 822 - 822
Investments in Wakala
and Mudaraba pools 9 Stage 3 = - - 238.894 238.894
Other financial assets Stage 1 59.276 = - = 59.276
Stage 2 = 91.462 - - 91.462
15 Stage 3 — - 92.434 905 93.339
Financial guarantees Stage 1 8.181.085 = - = 8.181.085
Stage 2 - 299.734 = — 299.734
19 Stage 3 - - 227.193 = 227.193
Liabilities to provide
Islamic financing Stage 1 1.005.687 = = = 1.005.687
19 Stage3 s - - 492 492
Total 23.892.913 11.561.339 2.660.164 2.035.865  40.150.281

Itis the Bank’s policy to assign ratings accurately and consistently across its portfolio. This enables focused management of
existing risks and allows comparison of credit tisk exposures across different activities, geographical regions and products.
The rating system relies on a number of financial and analytical techniques as well as processed market data, which provide
the man inputs for the assessment of counterparty risk. All internal risk categories are defined in accordance with the
Bank’s rating policy. The assigned ratings are regularly assessed and revised.
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Credit risk (continuation)

Credit quality by class of financial assets (continuation)

‘The geographical concentration of the Banl’s financial assets and on December 31 is as follows:

2023 2022
Other Other
Kazakhstan countries Total Kazakhstan countries Total

Asscts
Cash and cash equivalents 5.645.426 989.019 6.634.445 16.179.945 736.017 16.915.962
Receivables for Islamic

financing 15.070.937 = 15.070.937 14.642.517 = 14.642.517
Loans to customers - - — - - =
Investments in Wakala and

Mudaraba pools 484.984 - 484.984 238.894 - 238.894
Other financial assets 344 493 — 344.493 244.077 - 244.077
Total financial assets 21.545.840 989.019 22.534.859 31.305.433 736.017 32.041.450
Liabilities
Amounts due to credit

institutions = 691.764 691.764 — 724.993 724.993
Atooutts due o custotnets 8 660 91K 66 381 H.727.296 165294 882 LBoY.E /4 LB.404.7506
Liabilities to depositors of

Wakala and Mudataba

pOOlS 181.292 = 181.292 328 054 = 328 054
Provisions for contingent

liabilities 970.925 = 970.925 647.101 - 647.101
Lease liabilities 253.642 — 253.642 296.239 e 296.239
Other financial liabilities 33.325 — 33.325 33.600 =3 33.600
Total financial liabilities 10.100.099 758.145 10.858.244 17.899.876 2.594.867 20.494.743
Net balance position 11.445.741 230.874 11.676.615 13.405.557 (1.858.850) 11.546.707

Assets and credit related commitments have been presented according to the country in which the counterparty is located.Cash
has been presented according to the country in which it is physically held. Other countries include the Russian Federation,
EU countries and Turkey.

Liquidity risk and management of funding sources

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations as they fall due under normal and
unforeseen circumstances. In order to limit this risk management has ensured availability of various sources of funding in
addition to the existing minimum amount of bank deposits. Management also manages assets with liquidity in mind and
monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This process includes estimating expected cash flows and the
availability of high quality collateral that can be used to secure additional funding if required.

The Treasury Department is the main body responsible for managing the Bank’s current liquidity position and continuously
monitoring the liquidity position of the Bank’s balance sheet and its dynamics. The Treasury Department performs monthly
liquidity analysis, the results of which are communicated to all members of the Management Board.
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Liquidity risk and management of funding sources (continuation)

Internal accepied methodologies are used to anlyze the liquidity of the Bank'’s balance.

The Management Board reviews the liquidity analysis in terms of expected financial flows - liquidity gap analysis - on a monthly
basis. In case of deterioration of liquidity ratios, the reasons ate analyzed and recommendations on their elimination ave
submitted to the Manageinent Bourd. The Risk Management Service tegulatly reviews compliance with ratios and parameters
set by the internal iquidity management policy, such as instant liquidity ratio, current liquidity ratio, shott-term liquidity ratio,
total liquidity ratio and forecasted liquidity ratio.

The Board of Directors and the Management Board of the Bank should receive information from the Finance Department
on the liquidity position of the Bank at least once a month, and in case of significant deterioration of the current or forecasted
liquidity position of the Bank, immediately.

Aunalysis of financial kabilities by remaining maiurities

The tables below summarize the Bank’s financial liabilities on December 31 by remaining maturity based on contractual
undiscounted repayment obligations. Liabilities that are repayable on demand are treated as if they were due on the earliest
possible date. However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date on which the
Bank will be requited to make a corresponding payment, and accordingly, the table does not reflect the expected cash fows
estimated by the Bank based on historical deposit withdrawals.

2023
Less than 3 From 3 to From 1to 5 More than 5

tFinancial liabilities months 12 moaths years years Toral
Amounts due to credit

mstluions 691.764 - = 691.764
Amounts due to custolucts 6.592.069 460.810 Lo/4.417 = 8.727.296
Liabilities to depositors of

Walkala and Mudaraba pools 53.506 126.877 909 - 181.292
Lease liabilities 30.927 80.169 142.546 - 253.642
Other financial liabilities - 33.325 - - 33.325
Total undiscounted financial

liabilities 7.368.266 701.181 1.817.872 — 9.887.319

2022
Less than 3 From 3 to From1to 5 More than 5

Financial liabilities months 12 months years years Toral
Amounts due to credit 724.993 - - - 724.993

institutions
Amounts due to customers 16.690.670 54.800 1.689.286 30.000 18.464.756
Liabilities to depositors of % -

Wakala and l\'ﬁldaraba pools 328054 - a N 528.054
Lease liabilities 34.793 104.379 218.854 = 358.026
Other financial liabilities - 33.600 — == 33.600
Total undiscounted financial

liabilities 17.778.510 192.779 1.908.140 30.000 19.909.429

Amounts due to customers arc allocated based on contractual maturities, although they can be withdrawn on demand.

The maturity gap analysis does not teflect the historical stability of current account balances, which have historically been,
repaid over a longer period than indicated in the tables above. These balances are included in the tables as amounts due within

Tless than 3 months’.

P
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Liquidity risk and management of funding sources (continuation)

Anabysis of financial Gabilitier by remaining maturities (continsation)

The table below summarizes the contractual maturity of the Banl’s contingent liabilitics and commitments. All outstanding
commitments to provide Islamic financing ate included 1 the tme period that contains the earliest date on which the customer
can tequite petfotmance. In the case of funandial guatautee contacts, e maximum amount of the guatautee is allocated o
the earliest petiod in which the guarantee can be called

2023
Less than 3 From 3 to Fromitws5 More than 8
months 12 months years years Total
Guarantees issued 11.008.961 - - - 11.008.961
Liabilities to provide Islamic
financing 79.523 - 1.125.901 - 1.205.424
11.088.484 - 1.125.901 - 12.214.385
2022
Less than 3 From 3 to FromIto5 More than 5
months 12 months years years Total
Guarantees issued 9.327.559 - = = 9.327.559
Liabilities to provide Islamic
fiancing 1.032.750 - 983 — 1.033.735
10,360.309 983 - 10.361.292

The Bank expects that not all contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the commutments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market
variables such as profit rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank has marker risk on its non-trading portfolio.
The risk on non-trading positions is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis. With the exception of currency
positions, the Bank has no significant concentrations of market risk.

Risk of changes in profit rates

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial
instruments. The Bank’s exposure to changes in profit rates is not significant as the Bank raises and deposits funds at fixed
rates.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Management Board has set limits on foreign currency positions based on the NBRK requirements for regulation of second-
tier banks.
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24. Risk management (continuation)

Market risk (continuation)

Carreney visk (continuadion)

The following table presents the currencies to which the Bank had significant exposure on December 31 for its non-trading
monetary agsets and liabilities and its projected cash flows. Tlie aualysis caleulates the effect of teasonably possible movement
ol e cutteney Lale agaist (he lenge o profit ot loss (due o e ealdstence of cutlency sensitive non tuding moneluty ussels
and liabilities) All other variables ate assumed to he constant The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on [rofit
or loss. Negative amounts in the table reflect a potential net dectease in (Le statement of comprehensive income or equity,
while positive amounts reflect a potential net increase.

2023 2022
Increase in Increase in
foreign exchange Effect on profit  foreign exchange Effect on profit
Currency rate, in % before taxation rate, in % before taxation
US dollar 15,00% 29.809 21,00% 84.688
Euto 15,00% (707) 17,99% (41.480)
Russian ruble 15,00% 26.115 22,05% 25.347
Chinese yuan 15,00% 2.101 22.19% 25.521
2023 2022
Decrease in Decrease in
foreign exchange Effect on profit  foreign exchange Effect on profir
Currency rate, i % befure taxation Lidte, i Yo befute taxation
US dollar -15,00% (29.809) 21,00% (84.688)
Lwo -15,00% 107 -1'1,99% 41.480
Russian ruble -15,00% (26.115) -22,05% (25 347)
Chinese yuan -15,00% (2.101) -22,19% (25.521)

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk arising from system failure, human etror, fraud or external events. When a control system fails,
operational risks may cause reputational damage, legal consequences ot financial loss. The Bank cannot assume that all
operational risks have been eliminated, but through a control framework and by monitoring and responding appropriately to
potential risks, the Bank can manage such risks. ['he control framework includes effective segregation of duties, access rights,
approval and reconciliation procedures, staff training, and assessment procedures, including internal audit.

25. Fair value measurement

Fair value hierarchy

At each reporting date the management of the Bank analyzes changes in the value of assets and liabilities for which revaluation
or reassessment is required by the Bank’s accounting policy. For the putposes of this analysis, the Bank’s management verifies
the key inputs used in previous valuations by comparing the information in the valuation calculations with contracts and other
relevant documents. In conjunction with the Bank’s external valuers, the Bank’s management also compares each change in
the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable.
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25.  Fair value measurement (continuation)

Fair value hierarchy (continuation)

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level i the fatr value hierarchy.

Fair value measurements using the following

Stonificant
Quotes i actve ugservablr Significant
Dare of markets baseline data unobservable
2023 measurement (Level 1) (Level2)  inputs (Level 3) Total
Assets for which fair value is
disclosed
December 31,
Cash and cash equivalents 2023 3.948.476 2.685.969 - 6.634.445
December 31,
Receivables for Islamic financing 2023 ) = 13.922.220 13.922.220
Loans to customers December 31,
2023 ] = =] =
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba December 31,
pools 2023 = — 484,984 484.984
Other financial assets December 31,
2023 - - 257.393 257.393
Liabilities for which fair value is
disclosed
Amounts due to credit mstitutions December 31,
2023 69L.764 £ 691.764
Amounts due to customers December 31,
2023 - B.121.296 - 8.727.296
Liabilitles to deposttors of Wakala and December 31,
Mudaraba pools 2023 = 181.292 = 181.292
December 31,
Lease liabilities 2023 = = 239.379 239.379
December 31,
Other financial labilities 2023 = = 33.325 33.325
Fair value measurements using the following
Significant
Quotes in active observable Significant
Date of markets baseline data unobservable
2022 measurement (Level 1) (Level 2)  inputs (Level 3) Toral
Assets for which fair value is
disclosed
December 31,
Cash and cash equivalents 2022 1.605.360 15.310.602 - 16.915.962
December 31,
Receivables for Islamic financing 2022 = = 13.739.301 13.739.301
Loans to customers December 31,
2022 - — =5 s
Investments in Wakala and Mudaraba December 31,
pools 2022 - = 238.894 238.894
Other financial assets December 31,
2022 - = 216.730 216.730
Liabilities for which fair value is
disclosed
Amounts due to credit institutions December 31,
2022 = 724,993 = 724.993
Amounts due to customers December 31,
2022 - 18.464.756 = 18.464.756
Liabilities to depositors of Wakala and December 31, ‘ )
Mudaraba pools 2022 - 328.054 = 328.054
December 31,
Lease liabilities 2022 - = 279581 279.581
December 31,

Other financial liabilities 2022 - = 33.600 33.600

There were no movements between levels of the fair value hierarchy during 2023 and 2022.
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25. Fair value measurement (continuation)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value.

Sct out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments that are not
carried at fatr value tn the statement of financial position. The table does not mclude the fair values of non financial asaets

and non-fnancial Habilides.

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables for Islamic
financing

Loans to customers

Investments in Wakala and
Mudaraba pools

Other financial assets

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to credit
msttutons

Amounts due to customets

Liabilities to depositots of
Wakala and Mudaraba
pools

Lease habilities

Other financial labilities

‘l'otal unrecognized
changes in fair value

2023 2022

Noti- Non-
recognized recognized
Cartying Income/ Carrying Income/
amount Fair value (loss) amount Fair value (loss)
6.634.445 6.634.445 - 16.915.962 16.915.962 -
15.070.937 13.922.220 (1.148.717) 14.642.517 13.739.301 (903.216)
484.984 484.984 - 238.894 238.894 =
344.493 257.393 (87.100) 244.077 216.730 (27.347)
691.764 691.764 - /24.993 724.993 -

8 727 296 8 727 296 18464 776 18164 756
181.292 181.292 - 328.054 328.054 =
253.642 239.379 (14.263) 296.239 279.581 (16.658)
33.325 33.325 - 33.600 33.600 =
(1.250.080) (947.221)

Valuation techniques and assumptions

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine the fair value of those financial instruments

that ate not carried at fair value in these financial statements.

Assets whose fair value approximates their carrying amount

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed
that their fair value approximates their carrying amount. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings
accounts with no stated maturity.

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

The fair value of unquoted instruments, Islamic finance receivables, loans to customers, customer accounts, other financial
assets and liabilities 15 estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently available for debt witly siinilar tevns,

credit risk and maturity
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26. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The table below summarizes assets and liabilities by their expected maturities. The Bank’s contractual undiscounted repayment
obligations are disclosed in Noe 24 Risk management.

2023 022
During one More than During one  More than
year one year Total year one year Total

Cash and cash equivalents 6.634.445 - 6.634.445 16.915.962 16915 962
Receivables fon Tslatnic

financing '182.456 14.288.481 15.070.937 4./49.149 9.893.368 14.642.517
Loans to customers - - - - - -
Investments in Wakala and

Mudaraba pools 484.984 - 484.984 238.894 = 238.894
Property, plant and

equipment - 67.487 67.487 = 74.229 74.229
Right-of-use assets - 238.420 238.420 = 285.773 285.773
Intangible assets - 209.084 209.084 — 258.966 258.966
Inventories 191.252 - 191.252 191.229 - 191.229
Current corporate income

tax assets 57.725 - 57.725 65.375 = 65.375
Deferred corporate income

tax assets - 12.229 12.229 = 98.808 98.808
Other assets 146.375 320,444 466,819 53.167 254.543 307.710
‘T'otal 8.297.237 15.136.145 23.433.382 21.878.986 10.855.085 32.734.071
Amounts due to credit

inftitutions 621.764 70 000 691 764 724 093 724 9973
Amounts due (o customers 6.338.409 2.388.887 8.727.296 16.745.470 1.719.286 18.464.756
Liabilities to depositors of

Wakala and Mudaraba

pools 181.292 - 181.292 328.054 = 328.054
Provisions for contingent

liabilities - 970.925 970.925 - 647.101 647.101
Lease liabilities 111.096 142.546 253.642 104.287 191.952 296.239
Other liabilities 109.788 72.510 182.298 175.774 21.703 197.477
Total 7.362.349 3.644.868 11.007.217 18.078.578 2.580.042 20.658.620
Net amount 934.888 11.491.277 12.426.165 3.800.408 8.275.04. 12.075.451

27. Transactions with related parties

In accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties may
not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated parties. The prices and terms
of such transactions may differ from those of transactions between unrelated parties.
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27.  Transactions with related parties (continuation)

The volume of transactions with related parties, balances on December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related amounts of
expenses and income for the years then ended are presented below:

2027 2022
Ouganizati Key Organtzati Key
ons under manageme Other ons under managemec Other
Shareholde common nt related  Shareholde common at related
s control  personnel parties 15 conteol  porsonnel parties
Receivables for Islamic
financing on January 1 = s 89.499 - 153.102
Repayment duting the year - = = (2.991) = w2 = -
Change in ECL — i s 5.697 — . &= (63.603)
Receivables for Islamic
financing, outstanding on
December 31 - = = 87.205 = #= — 89.499
Current accounts on
December 31 116.114 58 4 35.168 1.079 2779 34 2.248

Income and expense items with related parties for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

2023 _ 2022
Organizati Key Organizati Key
ons under —manageme Other ons under manageme Other
Sharcholde COMIOLN nt related  Shareholde commeon nt 1efated
15 control  personnel parties rs control  personnel parties
Reveuue from Commodity
Murabalia contracts - — - 183 - - - 8.277
Commission income 161 1.041 10 802 590 G52 14 436
Other operating expenses = = (14.308) (2.160) - - (25.867) (778)

The temunetation of 11 members of key management personnel (in 2022: 8 members) 1s set out below:

2023 2022
Salaries and other short-term benefits (96.218) (88.345)
Social security contributions (19.159) (8.622)
Total remuneration to key management personnel (115.377) (96.967)

28. Capital adequacy

The Bank actively manages its capital adequacy to protect against risks inherent in its operations. The adequacy of the Bank’s
capital is monitored using, among other measures, ratios established by the NBRK.

The primary objectives of the Bank’s capital management ate to ensure that the Bank complies with externally imposed capital
tequirements and maintains an adequate capital adequacy ratio to support its business activities and to maximize shareholder
value.

The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of its activities.

The NBRK requites banks to maintain a Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of at least 6.5% of total assets and Tier 2 capital adequacy
ratio of at least /.5% of nsk-weighted assets calculated in accordance with regulatory requitements.
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28. Capital adequacy (continuation)
The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio exceeded the regulatory minimum on December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The following table shows an analysis of the Bank’s capital calculated in accordance with the NBRK requirements on
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022

Tict 1 capital 12.835.588 12.161 875
Total equity 12.835.588 12.161.875
Risk-weighted assets and liabilities, contingent claims and liabilities 28.882.556 39.20/.96/
Market risk 916.928 1.245.538
Operational risk 382.500 649.325
‘T'otal regulatory risk-weighted assets, contingent liabilities, operational

and market risks 29.799.484 41.162.830
Capital adequacy ratio k1-1 (minimum 5.5%) 43% 30%
Capital adequacy ratio k1-2 (minimum 6.5%) 43% 30%
Capital adequacy ratio k2 (minimum 7.5%) 43% 30%
29. Zakat

The Bank’s Charter does not require the Bank’s management to pay Zakat on behalf of the Shareholder. Consequently, the
obligation to pay Zakat is payable by (e Shutelioldet.




